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& REREARERAREK140,316.057T °
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R #16,590,000,0007T & A R #21,160,000,0007T © H B2 hER A e R HIB T #H#ET 2 2 5 2 FHIE R AR B12008F11 A21H 2
RERARAT008F12 4128 2B E([+= ABE )R HKE -
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Independent Auditors’ Report
BN AZ B

Ell ERNST & YOUNG

= ik

To the shareholders of China Foods Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements of China Foods Limited set out on
pages 107 to 209, which comprise the consolidated and company balance
sheets as at 31 December 2008, and the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow
statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the
true and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation

and the true and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITORS" RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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Independent Auditor's Report (continued)
BB RE (8)

AUDITORS' RESPONSIBILITY (CONTINUED)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditors' judgement, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state

of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December 2008 and of
the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

18th Floor

Two International Finance Centre
8 Finance Street

Central

Hong Kong

9 April 2009
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Consolidated Income Statement

ARE AR
[\ Ay - ¥
Year ended 31 December 2008
HZE2008F 128318 ILFE

Notes 2008 2007
B 20085 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BREEES
REVENUE A 6 14,240,283 9,743,011
Cost of sales HEMAR (10,741,784) (7,317,697)
Gross profit EA 3,498,499 2,425,314
Other income and gains E A A Rz 6 177,934 566,984
Selling and distribution costs HEER RS HKA (2,543,377) (1,669,313)
Administrative expenses TR H (451,247) (396,380)
Other expenses HfbZH (19,093) (9,252)
Finance costs BE AR 8 (31,382) (83,078)
Share of profits of associates iy NIl 124,996 49,167
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BIREIRF 7 756,330 933,442
Tax R 11 (136,251) (135,792)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BREEBEBZEERT 620,079 797,650
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS ERILEERE
Profit for the year from discontinued operations B 4% | F R4 7 EE T 13 - 239,769
620,079 1,037,419
Attributable to: LT -
Equity holders of the Company RATREFERA 12 483,427 791,686
Minority interests DHRR RS 136,652 245,733
620,079 1,037,419
DIVIDENDS ;3-8 14 174,182 6,359,760
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO #FA\AF%ERIEFFIEA
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF B EERET
THE COMPANY 15
Basic: YN
— For profit for the year —FEERF HK17.32 HK28.36
cents #(lll cents &1l
— For profit from continuing operations — BB w T HK17.32 HK21.35
cents #(lll cents &1l
Diluted: b D
— For profit for the year — 5 A N/A HK28.35
~EHA cents &1l
— For profit from continuing operations —FREEERE 8 N/A HK21.34
~EHA cents &1l
vERgEmas onsens 107



Consolidated Balance Sheet

R EERE

31 December 2008
2008% 12 A31H

Notes 2008 2007
B3 20084 20074
HK$°000 HK$'000
T FAET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME -~ BB MR 16 2,434,472 2,082,579
Investment properties wEWHE 17 69,884 58,000
Prepaid land premiums B TS 18 156,502 119,265
Deposits for purchase of items of property, BEWE - BEMEE
plant and equipment 2iEe 33,157 12,653
Goodwill [iEES 19 1,409,342 1,332,857
Other intangible assets Hibhmp&E 20 36,639 17,179
Interests in associates N N 22 411,951 156,233
Available-for-sale investments and
related advances T HERE LR 23 211,355 213,455
Deferred tax assets MLMIE BE 31 31,365 25,435
Biological assets EYEE 24 86,643 72,070
Total non-current assets SERENEERE 4,881,310 4,089,726
CURRENT ASSETS mENEE
Inventories 7E 25 2,628,857 1,968,321
Accounts and bills receivable FEWRE TN N 224 26 884,499 997,179
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FENFIE - e R EAEWIE 479,338 494,795
Due from fellow subsidiaries EEEYNGIVSE 41 230 16,770
Due from the ultimate holding company YRR A BIR IR 41 5,994 4,567
Due from the immediate holding company RS ONGIVEN 41 160 160
Due from associates Bib 5 N AR R 22 2,771 -
Tax recoverable AT U [E1F T8 5,790 4,077
Investments at fair value through profit or loss RN EYIABZE ZIEE 27 9,228 16,825
Pledged time deposits I E BFR 28 3,002 3,477
Cash and cash equivalents Be MRS ZEER 28 1,546,684 1,396,563
Total current assets MEVEEEE 5,566,553 4,902,734
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENRE
Accounts and bills payable PR BRI M 2R 29 860,851 815,315
Other payables and accruals E R Iéi&f’é?rfa% 1,983,809 1,350,289
Due to fellow subsidiaries UNEES N NGRS 41 440,993 346,592
Due to the ultimate holding company IR ER AR PR A T GRIE 41 13,731 12,040
Due to related companies REGE N jTAIE 41 365,898 279,057
Due to minority shareholders of subsidiaries YNGR G ES e 41 - 1,113
Due to associates IREEE N ﬂ,f 22 71,273 -
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings M BRITE R REMER 30 247,955 284,960
Tax payable FERTIE 26,397 50,484
Total current liabilities mEBEEE 4,010,907 3,139,850
NET CURRENT ASSETS MENEERE 1,555,646 1,762,884
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES HEMERTBHEE 6,436,956 5,852,610
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Notes 2008 2007
B EE 2008 20074
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #BE#{ERTHAR 6,436,956 5,852,610
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBAR
Interest-bearing bank borrowings M BERITE R 30 - 106,792
Due to minority shareholders of subsidiaries R BB A R A B ER FE 41 73,136 75,047
Due to the ultimate holding company e St NCIE /S 41 22,679 21,358
Deferred income FEIEUTA 8,686 9,183
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIBRE 31 7,481 6,729
Total non-current liabilities SERE B EREE 111,982 219,109
Net assets BEEFE 6,324,974 5,633,501
EQUITY B
Equity attributable to equity holders FOTFBRFFEHAREGRSE
of the Company
Issued capital BEITRA 32 279,138 279,138
Reserves E 34(a) 4,705,973 4,153,901
Proposed final dividend HR AR EIRZ B 14 107,189 125,612
5,092,300 4,558,651
Minority interests PEBRRES 1,232,674 1,074,850
Total equity R4 (E 6,324,974 5,633,501
Qu Zhe Mak Chi Wing, William
B EE HEE
Director Director
Ea EFE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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Year ended 31 December 2008

HZE2008F12A31BILEE
Attributable to equity holders of the Company
FATREHHARLE
Employee
share-based
compensation Exchange Proposed
Share reserve fluctuation final Minority Total
Issued  premium [ Capital ~ Reserve reserve  Retained  dividend interests equity
capital  account  BAEH  reserve funds  ERKE profits i Total  PBERX (23
BRfTRE RABAE  FHMRE  ARE fifid B RERN  RMER b 8 #E
Notes HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HKSO0O0  HKS00  HKSO000  HKS000  HKSO000  HKS000  HK000  HKS00O
iz Fér Fér FEr FEr FEr FEr FEn FEn FEn FEn FEn
At 1 January 2007 R200741 818 219,138 3,660,432 - 2482197 193282 275427 2863932 - 9754408 1807721 11,562,129
Exchange realignment AR - - - - - 243645 - - 243645 51,413 295,058
Totalincome and expense for the year ¥R EZ#A 2 EE WA
recognised directly in equity pstutitl - - - - - 243 645 - - 243645 51,413 295,058
Profit for the year EERA - - - - - - 791,686 - 791686 245733 1,087,419
Totalincome and expense for the year  £EIMA Ji 3 2% - - - - - 243,645 791,686 - 1,085,381 207146 1332477
Contributions from minority shareholders - &k L& - - - - - - - - - 46,395 46,39
Transfer from retained profits AREETIER - - - - 30,950 - (30,950) - - - -
Equity-settled share option arrangements A& E B RiER K] - - 3,060 - - - - - 3,060 - 3,060
Acquisition of subsidiaries WENBAR 3 - - - - - - - - - 113636 113,636
Release of reserves upon distribution A E B 175 5
of the Spin-off Group BEE - - - 902,104)  (98147)  (281979) 3282230 - - (1,180,386) (1,180,386
Special interim dividend ERImERE 14 - - - - - (6,234,148) - (6,234,148) (6,234,148)
Divicends to minority shareholders — »&IRERS. - - - B - - - - - (9,662) (9,662)
Final 2007 dividend declared BR007ER RS, 14 - - - - - - (125612) 125612 - - -
At 31 December 2007 R20074 124318 219,138 3,660,432 30601 (419907 126085 237,003  547,138" 125612 4558651 1074850 5,633,501
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Attributable to equity holders of the Company

FATRFREARLE
Employee
share-based
compensation Exchange Proposed

Share  reserve fluctuation final Minority Total
Issued  premium [} Capital  Reserve  reserve  Retained  dividend interests equity
capital  account  BARE  reserve funds  ERHED profits Bk Total  PBKE 23
BEfTRE  ROBEE  FMRE  SARE 15 B REEN  FERR @t & #E
Notes HK000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$O000  HKBOO0  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
i AL AL AL AL AL AL AR AR FER AR FER
At 1 January 2008 200851418 219,138 3660432 3060 (419907) 126085 237,003 547,138 125612 4588651 1,074850 5633501
Bxchange realignment EiRE - - - - - 23269 - - 23269 52542 285,234

Totalincome and expense for the year  WEABRIEZ 2 FEYA
recognised directly in equity RExEE - - - - - 282,692 - - 282,692 52,542 285,234
Profit for the year FERT - - - - - - 483427 - 48347 136652 620,079
Totalincome and expense for the year &I\ B % % - - - - - 2306% 483427 - T6119 189194 905313
Contributions from minority shareholders - &R EH A - - - - - - - - - 4,950 4,950
Transfer from retained profits BREEHER - - - - 55,667 - (05,067) - - - -
Equity-settied share option amrangements A4 E B REL 38 - - 10,135 - - - - - 10,135 - 10,135
Cancellation of share premium HERDEE 34b) - (3660,432) - 3660432 - - - - - - -
Interim 2008 cividend paic BiR20085 RS 14 - - - - - - (669%) - (669%) - (66999
Final 2007 dividend paid BIR00TERERS 14 - - - - - - - (125612)  (125612) - (125612)
Proposed 2008 final dividend HR2008ERERE 14 . - - - - - (107,189) 107,189 - - -
Dividends to minority shareholders S &RERS. - - - - - - - - - (36,320) (36,320)
At 31 December 2008 2008512318 219,138 - 13,195°  3240525" 181762 469785 800716* 107,189 5002300 1,232674 6324974
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$4,705,973,000  * ZEFBREBRRAEERABERTNGESHE

(2007: HK$4,153,901,000) in the consolidated balance sheet.

4,705,973,000/ 7T (20074 : 4,153,901,00087T) °
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

/\\/__]_\/\EE \ / ;ﬁ%%

Year ended 31 December 2008
EHZE2008F12A31AILLFE

Notes 2008 2007
LiEs3 20085 20074
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FAET
CASH FLOWS FROM BEEBEEZRSRE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax: A& A -
From continuing operations BT 756,330 933,442
From discontinued operations DR AR 78 13 - 264,426
Adjustments for: mTEEE ELT
Finance costs A& AN 8 31,382 98,044
Share of profits of associates FE(GEE &N T A (124,996) (108,143)
Interest income F B A 6 (16,578) (44,037)
Dividend income from AHEEREZ
available-for-sale investments g B4 A 6 (41,850) (41,004)
Dividend income from investments BAFEIIABR 2 IRE
at fair value through profit or loss ZRBUA 6 (92) (164)
Fair value loss/(gain) on investments BAFEIIABS ZIRE
at fair value through profit or loss ZNFEEE, () 6,7 10,158 (14,587)
Net gain arising from changes in fair value EMEENFEEDESL
of biological assets 2 EWE 7 (12,369) (10,555)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEHE A E 2 Yas 6 - (394,884)
Impairment of receivables FEW R IE A 7 4,657 10,781
Equity-settled share option expense A ERER S 7 10,135 3,060
Amortisation of other intangible assets H b 8 A 7 3,312 272
Depreciation e 7 208,698 235,332
Fair value gain on investment properties KEWMEZ NHEEEELA 2 WS 6 (4,656) (1,727)
Loss on disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment HEYE - HERRHEER 7 4,278 3,261
Impairment of items of property,
plant and equipment Y - BB REERE 7 - 58,621
Recognition of prepaid land premiums WREMN LS 7 4,654 5,091
Provision against inventories FERE 7 48,618 3,808
Unrealised fair value losses of derivative TTETAR G ZRE
instrument transactions WATERE 7 = 31,494
Government grants BT B 6 (28,904) 67,711)
852,777 964,820
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2008 2007
2008%F 20074
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FAT
852,777 964,820
Increase in inventories FEEn (571,362) (1,015,519)
Decrease in accounts and bills receivable FEU BRI R =450 167,070 54,671
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits FERNRIE -~ e N EHMER
and other receivables RIER AL, (380) 33,293 (401,904)
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from
fellow subsidiaries BRMBRRRZRELD, (38hn) 16,588 (153,840)
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from
the ultimate holding company BEERARRFORL, (#80) (1,391) 22,705
Increase in amounts due from
related companies EER N DG pill] - (6,112)
Decrease in amounts due from associates g N ERFOR A 3,449 -
Increase/(decrease) in accounts and bills payable e BEFN & Z 3%, (i) (4,714) 197,565
Increase in other payables and accruals HubfE rIB R FEE & &I 368,872 674,444
Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to UNGE S I=VNGIE ¢
fellow subsidiaries #2401, i) 70,794 (5,889)
Increase in amounts due to related companies /K B A B FZIEIE N 67,509 458,611
Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to IR ERIRIERG A T 2R IR
the ultimate holding company a0, CFid) 918 (9,147)
Increase in amounts due to associates IR B8N B FRIBHE N 68,192 -
Decrease in amounts due to the immediate
holding company RE R AR FIER A = (463)
Decrease in amounts due to minority
shareholders of subsidiaries VNG SN TR - (13,225)
Government grants received RALOESEEE) = 811
Cash generated from operations KBRS 7IRG 1,071,995 767,528
Interest received B IFLE 16,578 44,037
Interest paid EAFE (44,871) (108,794)
Hong Kong profits tax paid EREBFEH (9) (2,457)
Mainland China tax paid B EIRIE (168,061) (156,748)
Net cash inflow from operating activities REEREE RS RAFE 875,632 548,566

pEaREmLE coossrEms 113



Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (continued)

melengr(E)
Year ended 31 December 2008
EHZE2008F12A31AILLFE

Notes 2008 2007
ik 20085 20074
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FAT

Net cash inflow from operating activities REEEEL 7RSSR AR 875,632 548,566
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES R EEZHELZHERE
Decrease in pledged time deposits R E BFEROm 669 51,5627
Advances from associates NI EZ - 1,902
Repayments from/(advances to) ELmAHEHERE

unlisted available-for-sale investments B (B3 2,912 (2,838)
Dividends from associates BN RIRE 55,073 63,060
Dividends received from EH&ZT@EE%&%

available-for-sale investments 2B 41,850 41,004
Dividends received from investments EIRATEIIABEZ

at fair value through profit or loss BREZRE 92 164
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HEWE  BEMREEE

plant and equipment Fr{S I8 18,397 15,625
Proceeds from disposal of investments HEREAFEIIABGE

at fair value through profit or loss KBTS EIE - 105,571
Purchases of investments at fair value AN EIAEZEZ

through profit or loss "& (2,561) (59,509)
Acquisition of subsidiaries URBE M B A A) 35 - 52,589
Acquisition of an associate Ui — PB4 A B 22 (161,057) -
Additional investment in an associate R—REE &R A 2 NS E (29,775) -
Purchase of investment properties BAKREYE 17 (3,394)
Disposal of subsidiaries HENB AR 36 - 39,585
Spin-off of CAIH DY B H IR 37 - (1,291,561)
Purchases of items of property,

plant and equipment BAME - BE RE&E (438,752) (1,170,822)
Additions to other intangible assets wEHMELEE 20 (21,159) (16,838)
Additions to prepaid land premiums FEfT &g hn 18 (24,776) (14,563)
Decrease/(increase) in deposits for purchase BEWH BELREEE

of items of property, plant and equipment 2GR (EM) (20,504) 309,137
Additions to biological assets NEEWMEE 24 (2,204) (7,931)
Government grants received NEGSEGENULION 27,870 32,377
Net cash outflow from investing activities KEERSELE RS TR (5657,319) (1,851,521)
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Notes 2008 2007
B3 20085 20074
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FAT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEBEEZH&RE
New bank loans IR ITE R 577,652 4,717,973
New other loans e EME R 454,361 971,883
Repayments of bank loans EERITER (732,936) (3,160,672)
Repayments of other loans BEHMER (471,129) (2,479,725)
Increase in other payables and accruals Lt A5 R TE N FE ST REE N 164,722 -
Contributions from minority shareholders DEIRE B E 4,950 46,395
Dividends paid ERRE (192,605) -
Dividends paid to minority shareholders

of subsidiaries BB B A Bl DAL AR B (37,466) (8,549)
Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to minority KB A 7D AR FIE

shareholders of subsidiaries hnCid>) (6,354) 34,668
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from B EBEL RS

financing activities A G ) #58 (238,805) 121,973
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND HR& R R & SEEHiI8m,

CASH EQUIVALENTS (D )RE 79,508 (1,180,982)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year F#7R& KIRSSEIEE 1,396,563 2,615,973
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net fEE R B R 2 F A 70,613 61,672
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

AT END OF YEAR FRZUBARNRSFEHRFR 1,546,684 1,396,563
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS BeRRaSEEEZRSN
Cash and bank balances IRe NIBTTEH 28 1,523,927 820,377
Non-pledged time deposits with original maturity 17 AR REFASE B N EIH ~

of less than three months when acquired I TE TR 28 22,757 576,186

1,546,684 1,396,563
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Balance Sheet
BEEAER

31 December 2008
2008% 12 A31H

Notes 2008 2007
M5E 20085 20074
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FHET FAT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREEE
Interests in subsidiaries RHB ATz 21 6,004,584 5,164,849
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FBNRRIE 1B e R EA R RIA 4,059 456
Investments at fair value through profit or loss BATEIIABRZIHE 27 7,204 14,301
Due from the immediate holding company EESE I UNCIVEN 41 165 165
Tax recoverable BIEEErE 1,715 1,288
Cash and cash equivalents HeRIRSEHEER 28 19,968 432,994
Total current assets MEBVEEBE 33,111 449,204
CURRENT LIABILITIES AR
Other payables and accruals Hib e RIBE R EtEaE 3,726 3,793
NET CURRENT ASSETS mEEERE 29,385 445,411
Net assets BEFE 6,033,969 5,610,260
EQUITY -
Issued capital BEITARAR 32 279,138 279,138
Reserves i 34(b) 5,647,642 5,205,510
Proposed final dividend R AR EIRZ B 14 107,189 125,612
Total equity N 6,033,969 5,610,260

Qu Zhe
B
Director
EE
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Notes 1o the Financial Statements
e 25 T 5 T

31 December 2008
2008% 12 A31H

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION 1.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda.
The registered office of the Company is located at Clarendon House,
2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda.

The Company is a subsidiary of COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited
(“COFCO (HK)"), a company incorporated in Hong Kong. Based

on confirmation by the Company’s directors, the ultimate holding
company of the Company is COFCO Limited (“COFCQ”), which is a
state-owned enterprise registered in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”).

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”), was involved in the following principal activities:

° production, sale and trading of grape wine and other wine
products;
° processing, bottling and distribution of sparkling beverages

and distribution of still beverages;

° distribution of retail packaged cooking oil and other related
products; and

° production and distribution of chocolate and other related
products.

In 2007, pursuant to a reorganisation scheme (the “Reorganisation”),
the Group spun off its interests in certain subsidiaries which are
engaged in oilseed processing, wheat processing, the production
and sale of brewing materials, rice trading and processing and the
production and sale of biofuel and biochemicals through a separate
listing on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Spin-off”).
In respect of the Spin-off, the Company declared on 8 February 2007
a special interim dividend to distribute the Company’s entire interest
in the issued share capital of China Agri-Industries Holdings Limited
(“CAIH"). The Spin-off and the listing of the shares of CAIH were
completed on 21 March 2007.

Upon the completion of the Spin-off, the Group discontinued its
oilseeds processing, wheat processing, the production and sale of
brewing materials, rice trading and processing, and the production
and sale of biofuel and biochemicals businesses carried out by CAIH
and its subsidiaries (the “Spin-off Group”).
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
FsmENTE(E)

31 December 2008
2008%12H31H

2.

118

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance

with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
They have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for investment properties, biological assets, derivative financial
instruments, certain available-for-sale investments and investments
at fair value through profit or loss, which have been measured at fair
value. These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise indicated.

As the Spin-off was completed on 21 March 2007, for the
presentation of the Group’s financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2007, the Spin-off Group was regarded as discontinued
operations in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December
2008. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of
acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtain control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
All income, expenses and unrealised gains and loses resulting from
intercompany transactions and intercompany balances within the
Group are eliminated on consolidation in full.

The acquisition of certain subsidiaries from COFCO (HK) through
the reorganisation scheme of the Group (the “2006 Acquisition”)

is accounted for based on the principles of merger accounting in
accordance with Accounting Guideline 5 Merger Accounting for
Common Control Combinations issued by the HKICPA, as if the
2006 Acquisition had occurred from the date when the subsidiaries
acquired through the 2006 Acquisition first came under the control
as the Company and the subsidiaries acquired are all ultimately
controlled by COFCO before and after the 2006 Acquisition. Further
details of the 2006 Acquisition and the Reorganisation are set out in
the Company’s circular date 28 October 2006.
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3.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Apart from the 2006 Acquisition, the acquisition of subsidiaries is
accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. This method
involves allocating the cost of the business combinations to the fair
value of the identifiable assets acquired, and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition. The cost of the
acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair value of the assets
given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed

at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the
acquisition. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Minority interests represent the interests of outside shareholders not
held by the Group in the results and net assets of the Company’s
subsidiaries. Acquisitions of minority interests are accounted for using
the parent entity extension method whereby the difference between
the consideration and the book value of the share of the net assets
acquired is recognised as goodwill.

IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has adopted the following new interpretations and
amendments to HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s
financial statements.

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7
Amendments

Amendments to HKAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement and HKFRS 7
Financial Instruments:
Disclosures — Reclassification of
Financial Assets

HK(IFRIC)-Int 11 HKFRS 2 — Group and Treasury Share
Transactions

HK(IFRIC)-Int 12 Service Concession Arrangements

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 HKAS 19 — The Limit on a Defined Benefit
Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements

and their Interaction

The adoption of these new interpretations and amendments has had
no significant effect on these financial statements and there have
been no significant changes to the accounting policies applied in
these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

PRSP ()

31 December 2008
2008%12H31H

3.2

120

IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements.

HKFRS 1 and HKAS 27

Amendments

HKFRS 2 Amendments

HKFRS 3 (Revised)

HKFRS 8
HKAS 1 (Revised)

HKAS 23 (Revised)

HKAS 27 (Revised)

HKAS 32 and HKAS 1

Amendments

HKAS 39 Amendment

K (IFRIC)-Int 13

HK (IFRIC)-Int 15

K (FRIC)-Int 16

K (IFRIC)-Int 17

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of HKFRSs and HKAS 27
Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statement — Cost of an Investment in a
Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity
or Associate’

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment — Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations’

Business Combinations?

Operating Segments’
Presentation of Financial Statements’

Borrowing Costs’

Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements?

Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and
HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements — Puttable Financial
Instruments and Obligations Arising On
Liquidation’

Amendment to HKAS 39 Financial
Instrument: Recognition and

Measurement — Eligible Hedged Items?
Customer Loyalty Programmes?®
Agreements for the Construction of

Real Estate’

Hedges of a Net Investment in a
Foreign Operation*

Distribution of Non — cash Assets to
Owners?
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3.2

IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Apart from the above, the HKICPA has issued Improvements to
HKFRSs* which sets out amendments to a number of HKFRSs
primarily with a view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying
wording. Except for the amendment to HKFRS 5 which is effective
for annual periods on or after 1 July 2009, other amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009
although there are separate transitional provisions for each standard.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 October 2008

F R R

*Improvements to HKFRSs contains amendments to HKFRS 5, HKFRS 7,
HKAS 1, HKAS 8, HKAS 10, HKAS 16, HKAS 18, HKAS 19, HKAS 20,
HKAS 23, HKAS 27, HKAS 28, HKAS 29, HKAS 31, HKAS 34, HKAS 36,
HKAS 38, HKAS 39, HKAS 40 and HKAS 41.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact
of these new and revised HKFRSs upon initial application. So far,

it has concluded that while the adoption of HKFRS 8 and HKAS 1
(Revised) may result in new or amended disclosures and the adoption
of HKFRS 3 (Revised), HKAS 27 (Revised) and HKAS 23 (Revised)
may result in changes in accounting policies, these new and revised
HKFRSs are unlikely to have a significant impact on the Group’s
results of operations and financial position.

3.2
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
FsmENTE(E)

31 December 2008
2008%12H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.3
POLICIES
Subsidiaries
A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating policies the
Company controls, directly or indirectly, so as to obtain benefits from
its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s income
statement to the extent of dividends received and receivable. The
Company’s interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any
impairment losses.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is an entity set up by contractual arrangement,
whereby the Group and other parties undertake an economic activity.
The joint venture operates as a separate entity in which the Group
and the other parties have an interest.

The joint venture agreement between the venturers stipulates the
capital contributions of the joint venture parties, the duration of the
joint venture and the basis on which the assets are to be realised
upon its dissolution. The profits and losses from the joint venture’s
operations and any distributions of surplus assets are shared by the
venturers, either in proportion to their respective capital contributions,
or in accordance with the terms of the joint venture agreement.

A joint venture is treated as:

(a) a subsidiary, if the Group has unilateral control, directly or
indirectly, over the joint venture;

(b) an associate, if the Group does not have unilateral or joint
control, but holds, directly or indirectly, generally not less
than 20% of the joint venture’s registered capital and is in a
position to exercise significant influence over the joint venture;
or

(©) an equity investment accounted for in accordance with HKAS
39, if the Group holds, directly or indirectly, less than 20%
of the joint venture’s registered capital and has neither joint
control of, nor is in a position to exercise significant influence
over, the joint venture.
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3.3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Associates

3.3

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary, in which the Group
has a long term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity
voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence.

The Group’s interests in associates are stated in the consolidated
balance sheet at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity
method of accounting, less any impairment losses. The Group’s share
of the post-acquisition results and reserves of associates is included
in the consolidated income statement and consolidated reserves,
respectively. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s interests in associates except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transfers. Goodwiill
arising from the acquisition of associates is included as part of the
Group’s interests in associates.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries and associates
represents the excess of the cost of the business combination over
the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquirees’ identifiable
assets acquired, and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed as at
the date of acquisition.

Goodwill on acquisitions for which the agreement date is on or after 1
January 2005

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised in the consolidated
balance sheet as an asset, initially measured at cost and subsequently
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. In the case of
associates, goodwill is included in the carrying amount thereof, rather
than as a separately identified asset on the consolidated balance
sheet.

The carrying amount of goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying value may be impaired. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating
units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups
of units.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

PRSP ()

31 December 2008
2008%12H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Goodwill (continued)
Gooadwill on acquisitions for which the agreement date is on or after 1
January 2005 (continued)
Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of
is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of
in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.

Gooawill previously eliminated against consolidated retained profits
Prior to the adoption of the HKICPA’s Statement of Standard
Accounting Practice 30 Business Combinations (“SSAP 30”) in 2001,
goodwill arising on acquisition was eliminated against consolidated
retained profits in the year of acquisition. On the adoption of HKFRS 3,
such goodwill remains eliminated against consolidated retained profits
and is not recognised in the income statement when all or part of the
business to which the goodwill relates is disposed of or when a cash-
generating unit to which the goodwill relates becomes impaired.

Excess over the cost of business combinations

Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over
the cost of acquisition of an associate (previously referred to as
negative goodwill), after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
the income statement.

The excess for an associate is included in the Group’s share of an

associate’s profit or loss in the period in which the investment is
acquired.
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3.3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of non-financial assets other than
goodwill

3.3

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, deferred tax
assets, biological assets, financial assets, investment properties,

and goodwill), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs to sell,

and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the income statement in the period in
which it arises.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is
any indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no
longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had

no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.

A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the income
statement in the period in which it arises.

ZZEE+B( mﬁ?(»»
EEMRE (FMERI)REE

WAENRBERERREX AR EELETEE
BEAA(TEEFSE BEMBREE &
WEE  oREE REVERHE) 8
ERHFTEEZAIRE TR - BE A WA S
BMREESIRTELE jZ@EﬁﬁF@ﬁZ”?
BUARSERE)REEKRAMTE - 15
ERIEEMETE - B%i?ﬁ%ﬁﬁélﬂ&ifﬁ
ERA - BERKEE PBUNEMEES
BEFR - HILBERAT - ATkEeEREE
Bz REEE B MERE o

BERBREREEREERE @8
HER - MEHEEAEER - AtAREDR
BRI RRBET S G2 EESREER
AEFERRZHAFREPERERE - B
EEERE S HE A WA RKILE

REEREAEERREAEMPRBTSB
EFEERZREBRETBFAERTEER
BAEITRHE - WBEMZETR - BEfH
AN EISER - EERANEEEEZ ATKE
SR AMEEER - SRIERZRME
RS AEE - EEDZ 2B SRMRR
BEFEZEECELEREBETIAERE
MNEEZ REE (R EMTE, )
B RERENEES 2 B AMAR
=M e

125

FEKKARAT 2008FEHE



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
FsmENTE(E)

31 December 2008
2008%12H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party, directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled by, or is under
common control with, the Group; (i) has an interest in the
Group that gives it significant influence over the Group; or (iii)
has joint control over the Group;

(b) the party is an associate;

(c) the party is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or any of its holding companies;

(d) the party is a close member of the family of any individual
referred to in (a) or (c);

(e) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or
significantly influenced by or for which significant voting power
in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual
referred to in (c) or (d); or

) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of

the employees of the Group, or of any entity that is a related
party of the Group.
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3.3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

3.3

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs

of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use. Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the income statement in the
period in which it is incurred. In situations where it can be clearly
demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted in an increase in the
future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of
an item of property, plant and equipment, and where the cost of the
item can be measured reliably, the expenditure is capitalised as an
additional cost of that asset or as a replacement.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for
this purpose are as follows:

2.8% to 16.2%
4.5% to 25%

Building
Plant, machinery and equipment

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable
basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately.

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each balance sheet
date.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its
use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised
in the income statement in the year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of
construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed
funds during the period of construction. Construction in progress
is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

PRSP ()

31 December 2008
2008%12H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.3
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investment properties
Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
the leasehold interest under an operating lease for a property which
would otherwise meet the definition of an investment property) held to
earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use
in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such
properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at
fair value, which reflects market conditions at the balance sheet date.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in the income statement in the year in which
they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the income statement in the year of the
retirement or disposal.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over
the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever
there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each balance
sheet date.

Computer software

Purchased patents and licences are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives of eight years.

Biological assets

Grape vines are measured at their fair value less estimated point-of
sale costs. The fair value of the grape vines is estimated by reference
to independent professional valuations using the discounted cash
flows of the underlying biological assets. The expected cash flows
from the whole life cycle of the grape vines is determined using the
market price of the estimated yield of the agricultural produce, being
grapes, net of maintenance and harvesting costs and any costs
required to bring grape vines to maturity. The estimated yield of the
grape vines is affected by the age of the grape trees, the location,
soil type and infrastructure. The market price of the grapes is largely
dependent on the prevailing market price of the processed products
after harvest, being crude grape wine.
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3.3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of
assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases.
Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under
operating leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals
receivable under the operating leases are credited to the income
statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the
Group is the lessee, rentals payable under the operating leases are
charged to the income statement on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

3.3

Prepaid land premiums under operating leases are initially stated at
cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms. When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably
between the land and buildings elements, the entire lease payments
are included in the cost of the land and buildings as a finance lease in
property, plant and equipment.

Investments and other financial assets

Financial assets in the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as
investments at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables
and available-for-sale investments, as appropriate. When financial
assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in
the case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss, directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group assesses whether a contract contains an embedded
derivative when the Group first becomes a party to it and assesses
whether an embedded derivative is required to be separated from
the host contract when the analysis shows that the economic
characteristics and risks of the embedded derivatives are not closely
related to those of the host contract. Reassessment only occurs

if there is a change in the terms of the contract that significantly
modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required under the
contract.

The Group determines the classification of its financial assets after
initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates
this designation at the balance sheet date.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention in
the marketplace.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
FsmENTE(E)

31 December 2008
2008%12H31H

3.3

130

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Investments at fair value through profit or loss

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held
for trading. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term. Gains or losses
on these financial assets are recognised in the income statement.
The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the income statement
does not include any dividends on these financial assets, which

are recognised in accordance with the policy set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Such
assets are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is
calculated taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition
and includes fees that are an integral part of the effective interest

rate and transaction costs. Gains and losses are recognised in the
income statement when the loans and receivables are derecognised
or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

Available-for-sale investments

Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative financial assets

in unlisted equity securities that are designated as available-for-

sale or are not classified in any of the other two categories. After
initial recognition, available-for-sale investments are measured at fair
value, with gains or losses recognised as a separate component of
equity until the investment is derecognised or until the investment is
determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss
previously reported in equity is included in the income statement.
Interest and dividends earned are reported as interest income and
dividend income, respectively and are recognised in the income
statement as “Other income” in accordance with the policies set out
for “Revenue recognition” below. Losses arising from the impairment
of such investments are recognised in the income statement as
“Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets” and are
transferred from the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve.

When the fair value of unlisted equity securities cannot be reliably
measured because (a) the variability in the range of reasonable fair
value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities
of the various estimates within the range cannot be reasonably
assessed and used in estimating fair value, such securities are stated
at cost less any impairment losses.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

3.3
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Fair value

The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised

financial markets is determined by reference to quoted market

bid prices at the close of business at the balance sheet date. For

investments where there is no active market, fair value is determined

using valuation techniques. Such techniques include using a

discounted cash flow analysis.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any
objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired.

Assets carried at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and
receivables carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount
of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount of
the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account. The
amount of the impairment loss is recognised in the income statement.
Loans and receivables together with any associated allowance are
written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance
account. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
in the income statement, to the extent that the carrying value of the
asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.

In relation to accounts and other receivables, a provision for
impairment is made when there is objective evidence (such as the
probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor
and significant changes in the technological, market, economic or
legal environment that have an adverse effect on the debtor) that the
Group will not be able to collect all of the amounts due under the
original terms of an invoice. The carrying amount of the receivables is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Impaired debts are
derecognised when they are assessed as uncollectible.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Assets carried at cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at
fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial
asset. Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.

Available-for-sale investments

If an available-for-sale investment is impaired, an amount comprising
the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment and
amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss
previously recognised in the income statement, is transferred from
equity to the income statement. A provision for impairment is made
for available-for-sale investments when there has been a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost or where other
objective evidence of impairment exists. The determination of what
is “significant” or “prolonged” requires judgement. Impairment losses
on equity instruments classified as available-for-sale are not reversed
through the income statement.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised where:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

. the Group retains the rights to receive cash flows from the
asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full
without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset and either (a) has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset.
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3.3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows

from an asset and has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the
asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form
of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of
the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

3.3

Where continuing involvement takes the form of a written and/or
purchased option (including a cash-settled option or similar provision)
on the transferred asset, the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement is the amount of the transferred asset that the Group
may repurchase, except in the case of a written put option (including
a cash-settled option or similar provision) on an asset measured at
fair value, where the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement is
limited to the lower of the fair value of the transferred asset and the
option exercise price.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (including
interest-bearing loans and borrowings)

Financial liabilities including accounts and other payables, amounts
due to the group companies, amounts due to minority shareholders
of subsidiaries and related companies, and interest-bearing loans
and borrowings are initially stated at fair value less directly attributable
transaction costs and are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. The
related interest expense is recognised within “Finance costs” in the
income statement.

Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the amortisation
process.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability

and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the income statement.
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3.3

134

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Derivative financial instruments

3.3

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as commodity
future contracts to hedge its risks associated with price fluctuations in
future purchases or sales of the related commodities. Such derivative
financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date
on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the
fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value on derivatives
that are taken directly to the income statement as the Group does not
adopt hedge accounting.

The fair value of commodity future contracts is determined by
reference to quoted market prices.

Inventories

Inventories, other than the agricultural produce which are measured

in accordance with the accounting policy for “Biological assets”
above, are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined on the weighted average basis and, in the case of work in
progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is
based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be
incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and
short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the balance sheets, cash and cash equivalents

comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits, which
are not restricted as to use.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

3.3
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or

constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable

that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the

obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the

amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the balance sheet date of the
future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
The increase in the discounted present value amount arising from
the passage of time is included in “Finance costs” in the income
statement.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is
recognised in the income statement, or in equity if it relates to items
that are recognised in the same or a different period directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to
the taxation authorities.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° where the deferred tax liability arises from goodwill or the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, where the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences, and
the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

° where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each
balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Conversely, previously
unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each balance
sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
and the same taxation authority.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an
expense item, it is recognised as income over the periods necessary
to match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is
intended to compensate. Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair
value is credited to a deferred income account and is released to the
income statement over the expected useful life of the relevant asset
by equal annual instalments.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be measured
reliably, on the following bases:

(@) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and rewards
of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, provided
that the Group maintains neither managerial involvement to
the degree usually associated with ownership, nor effective
control over the goods sold;

(b) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms;
() interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective

interest method by applying the rate that discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset;

(d) compensation income, when the right to receive payment has
been established;

(e) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established;

() proceeds from the sale of investments, on the transaction
dates when the relevant contract notes are exchanged; and

9 tax refunds, when the acknowledgement of refunds from the
tax bureau has been received.
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3.3
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a separate
allocation of retained profits within the equity section of the balance
sheet, until they have been approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. When these dividends are approved by the shareholders
and declared, they are recognised as a liability.

3.3

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared because
the Company’s memorandum and articles of association and bye-
laws grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Employee benefits

Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured
by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted.
The fair value is determined by an external valuer using the Black-
Scholes-Merton option pricing model, further details of which are
given in note 33 to the financial statements. In valuing equity-settled
transactions, no account is taken of any performance conditions,
other than conditions linked to the price of the shares of the Company
(“market conditions”), if applicable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with
a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date
on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award
(the “vesting date”). The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled transactions at each balance sheet date until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the income statement
for a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
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3.3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payment transactions (continued)

3.3

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest,
except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a market
condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not
the market condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for any modification,
which increases the total fair value of the share-based payment
arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured
at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it

had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a
new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as
a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

The Group has adopted the transitional provisions of HKFRS 2 in
respect of equity-settled awards and has applied HKFRS 2 only to
equity-settled awards granted after 7 November 2002 that had not
vested by 1 January 2005 and to those granted on or after 1 January
2005.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Employee benefits (continued)

Pension schemes and other retirement benefits

3.3

Retirement benefits are provided to certain staff employed by the
Group. In accordance with the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance, the Group’s Hong Kong employees enjoy retirement
benefits under either the Mandatory Provident Fund Exempted ORSO
Scheme, or the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme under which
employer contributions have to be made. The assets of the schemes
are held separately from those of the Group in independently
administered funds. The Group’s contributions to both schemes

are at a maximum of 10% of the monthly salaries of the employees.
When an employee leaves employment prior to his or her interest

in the Group’s employer contributions vesting fully, the ongoing
contributions payable by the Group may be reduced by the relevant
amount of the forfeited contributions, in accordance with the rules of
the Mandatory Provident Fund Exempted ORSO Scheme. However,
in respect of the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme, only the
employer voluntary contribution amounts are refundable to the Group
when the members leave employment prior to their contributions
vesting fully. The Group’s mandatory contributions vest fully with the
employees when the employees leave employment.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Mainland
China are required to participate in a central pension scheme

which is operated by the relevant authorities or the local municipal
governments of the provinces in Mainland China in which the Group’s
subsidiaries are located. The Group is required to contribute to the
central scheme in respect of its employees in Mainland China and
such costs are charged to the income statement as incurred.

Employment Ordinance long service payments

Certain of the Group’s employees have completed the required
number of years of service to the Group in order to be eligible for long
service payments under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance in the
event of termination of their employment. The Group is liable to make
such payments in the event that such a termination of employment
meets the circumstances specified in the Employment Ordinance.

A provision has not been recognised in respect of such possible

payments, as it is not considered probable that the situation will result
in a material future outflow of resources from the Group.

China Foods Limited Annual Report 2008
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3.3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs

3.3

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned

on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs capitalised.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using
that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions are initially
recorded using the functional currency rates ruling at the dates of

the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rates of
exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. All differences are taken
to the income statement. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and
associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at
the balance sheet date, the assets and liabilities of these entities
are translated into the presentation currency of the Company at the
exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date and their income
statements are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year. The resulting exchange
differences are included in the exchange fluctuation reserve.

On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount
recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the income statement.

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, the cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout
the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the reporting
date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates
could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgement

Withholding tax arising from the distribution of dividends

The Group’s determination, as to whether to accrue withholding
taxes arising from the distributions of dividends by certain
subsidiaries according to the relevant tax rules enacted in the
jurisdictions, is subject to judgement on the plan of the distribution of
dividends.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
discussed below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also to
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value
of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December
2008 was HK$1,409,342,000 (2007: HK$1,332,857,000). More
details are given in note 19.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar
properties, the Group considers information from a variety of sources,
including:

(@) current prices in an active market for properties of a different

nature, condition or location (or subject to different leases or
other contracts), adjusted to reflect those differences;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND

ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Estimation of fair value of investment properties (continued)

(b) recent prices of similar properties on less active markets, with
adjustments to reflect any changes in economic conditions
since the date of the transactions that occurred at those
prices; and

(c) discounted cash flow projections based on reliable estimates
of future cash flows, supported by the terms of any existing
leases and other contracts and (when possible) by external
evidence such as current market rents for similar properties
in the same location and condition, and using discount rates
that reflect current market assessments of the uncertainty in
the amount and timing of the cash flows.

The principal assumptions for the Group’s estimation of the fair value
include those related to current market rents for similar properties

in the same location and condition, appropriate discount rates,
expected future market rents and future maintenance costs. The
carrying amount of investment properties at 31 December 2008 was
HK$69,884,000 (2007: HK$58,000,000).

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that

can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. The
carrying value of deferred tax assets relating to recognised tax losses
at 31 December 2008 was HK$6,742,000 (2007: HK$7,174,000).
The amount of unrecognised tax losses at 31 December 2008

was HK$253,893,000 (2007: HK$83,772,000). Further details are
contained in note 31 to the financial statements.
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of receivables
Impairment of receivables is made based on an assessment of the
recoverability of accounts and other receivables and the timing of
their recovery. The identification of impairment of receivables requires
management judgement and estimation. Where the actual outcome
or expectation in future is different from the original estimates, such
differences will impact on the carrying value of accounts and other
receivables and the amount of impairment/write-back of impairment
in the periods in which such estimates have been changed.
Impairment of receivables of HK$4,657,000 (2007: HK$10,781,000)
was recognised in the consolidated income statement for the year.
The aggregate carrying amount of accounts and bills receivable, and
prepayments, deposits and other receivables as at 31 December
2008 was HK$1,363,837,000 (2007: HK$1,491,974,000).

Estimation of fair value of biological assets

The Group’s biological assets are stated at fair value less point-of-sale
cost. This requires an independent valuer’s assessment of the fair
value of the biological assets. Changes in conditions of the biological
assets could impact the fair value of the assets. The carrying

amount of the Group’s biological assets at 31 December 2008 was
HK$86,643,000 (2007: HK$72,070,000). More details are given in
note 24.

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information is presented by way of the Group’s primary
segment reporting basis, by business segment. In determining the
Group’s geographical segments, revenues are attributed to the
segments based on the location of the customers, and assets are
attributed to the segments based on the location of the assets. No
further geographical segment information is presented as over 90%
of the Group’s revenue is derived from customers based in mainland
China, and over 90% of the Group’s assets are located in mainland
China.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

The Group’s operating businesses are structured and managed
separately, according to the nature of their operations and the
products and services they provide. Each of the Group’s business
segments represents a strategic business unit that offers products
and services which are subject to risks and returns that are different
from those of the other business segments. Summary details of the
business segments are as follows:

Continuing operations
() the wines segment is engaged in the production, sale and
trading of grape wine and other wine products;

(b) the beverages segment is engaged in the processing, bottling
and distribution of sparkling beverages and distribution of still
beverages;

() the consumer-pack edible oil segment is engaged in the
distribution of retail packaged cooking oil and other related

products;

(d) the confectionery segment is engaged in the production and
distribution of chocolate and other related products; and

(e) the corporate and others segment comprises the Group’s
corporate income and expense items.

Discontinued operations

() the oilseeds processing segment is engaged in the extraction,

refining and trading of edible oil and related businesses;

(b) the wheat processing segment is engaged in the production
of flour products and related businesses;

(c) the brewing materials segment is engaged in the processing
and trading of malt;

(d) the rice processing and trading segment is engaged in the
processing and trading of rice;

(e the biofuel and biochemicals segment is engaged in the
production and sale of biofuel and biochemicals and related
products; and

) the others segment comprises the corporate income and
expense items of the Spin-off Group.
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PaNvi@Z-&'N =)
5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5. DEERGE)
Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to DA HERBR2EE=EUERT
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then EHETTINE 2 B EHETT
prevailing market prices.
Consumer- Corporate
pack edible oil and others
Year ended 31 December 2008 Wines  Confectionery Beverages haE LER Eliminations Consolidated
#HE2008F12A31 A ILEE B b £3 ®H BR# Rft B8EE #e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FELT FET
Segment revenue: S
Sales to external customers HETIREP 2,789,979 364,591 4,573,520 6,512,193 - - 14,240,283
Other revenue HABA 49,222 14,683 47,468 9,909 (1,868) - 119,414
Segment results SRR 569,024 (121,199) 228,534 4,869 (77,032) - 604,196
Interest and dividend income FLB R B A 58,520
Finance costs RYE R (31,382)
Share of profits of associates FEAREE A R F - - 124,996 - - - 124,996
Profit before tax BRI 756,330
Tax fia] (136,251
Profit for the year FEHF 620,079
Assets and liabilities RERAR
Segment assets DEEE 3,603,620 465,662 3,763,022 906,726 3,789,941 (4,079,900 8,449,071
Interests in associates RS AT 2 R - - 411,951 - - - 411,951
Unallocated assets RDOWEE 1,586,841
Total assets HEE 10,447,863
Segment liabilities DEERF (2,647,508) (265,338) (3,290,615) (1,364,228) (353,267 ) 4,079,900 (3,841,056 )
Unallocated liabilities ROHBIE (281,833)
Total liabilities BafE (4,122,889)
Other segment information: Hitt 3 HEH :
Depreciation and amortisation EREH 85,919 18,142 105,217 1,748 5,638 - 216,664
Impairment losses/ BRRAREKH
(write-back of impairment HRRE
losses) recognised in B8/ (RE
the income statement EiEEmE) (140) 3,169 1,040 588 - - 4,657
Capital expenditures AARAE 173,428 1,047 308,838 1,471 16,786 - 501,570
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PaNLviI 278N =)
SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5. DEER(E
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
HUAERR BRLEERE
Consumer- Rice trading Trading of
Year ended pack and  Biofuel and non-rice
31 December 2007 edibleol  Corporate Oilseeds Wheat  processing ~biochemical Brewing  foodstuffs
BE00E Wines Confectionery  Beverages 8§ andothers Eliminations Total processing processing  KXER  EWEME  materials Eox s Others ~ Eliminations Total Consolidated
12ANALEE 1] 2 .4 AR AFRRE  E#RE gt WENI  OENI WL HEfe  WERH  RBER i gE%E it i
HKS 000 HKS000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS000 HKS 000 HKS000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
T T T T T Thn T Thn T T T T TEn TEn Tén TEn TR
Segment revenue: ABhE:
Saes foextemd cusiomers  #EFIREF 2140284 41398 300260 4158088 - - QT30 2681473 508922 869428 319,069 i - - - 4504069 14387.080
Intrsegment sdes bl - - - - - - - 19487 - 917 1209 - - - (28673) - -
Ot revenve AHMA 43366 9651 2128 (3%6) 15926 - 89885 B511 129 1405 {216 (885) - 168 [80) 91T 188072
Segment results ABRR i (29983) 0645 (0847) (42868 - 440254 128716 218 80629 2348 36,784 - (7.29) - 287428 707,680
Intrestand dvidend ncome 8 RIEEHA 82215 290 8206
(Gen on disposalof subsidaes HERBAT U - - ey - - - ey - gt
Finance costs # (33078) (64,986) 98044
Share of profis of associaes  ERBEAFER - - 49167 - - - 49167 54,656 - - 430 - - - - 976 108,143
Proft before tax RbtaaR 93442 24426 1197868
Tak B8 [135,7%2) [4857)  (160449)
Poft for te e SREH 197650 20769 100741
Assets and liabilties HERAR
Seqment assets HUEE 2964% 604909 3016917 81313 2879024 [(288194)  T.406675 - - - - - - - - - TH66TS
Interests in associates - - 196,233 - - - 196,233 - - - - - - - - - 156,233
Unalocated assefs 1429552 - 1485
Totd asses 8,992,460 - 89460
Seqment labiltes (1684737)  (B17.209) (2720438)  (1,087,703) (31831) 2881924 (2909.99) - - - - - - - - - 29099%)
Unalocated libtes (448,965) - (%)
Total abilties L 3,358.950) - (33899)
Other segment information: A }H#H :
Depreciaon and amortsaon 78 R fe 7,060 17943 69948 188 1406 - 168,190 496% 7001 352 13,660 8674 - 1 - 82505 2408%
Impaiment losses/
(irte-back of mpaiment
losses) recognised in
theincome statement B 2812 (210) 3206 - - - 5748 59,366 - - 4268 - - - - 63,654 69402
Capita expenditures BIRR 20716 3548 164137 3249 12,1% - 453,904 951 9,682 - 694,600 a1 2184 1 - T3 11911%

* Included a stamp duty expense of HK$20,771,000 arising from the
distribution of the entire share capital of CAIH.

*
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6.

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents the net
invoiced value of goods sold, after allowances for returns and trade

discounts, during the year.

An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:

YA
B (AR BB E R I) IRAF IR R S
RESIRIE & ERERFE -

HAB YA N W za

HAM AR AT -

2008 2007
20085 20074
HK$’000 HK$’'000
T FH&T
Other income Hettgg A
Gross rental income el AsmzE 8,573 7,098
Bank interest income RITFBUA 16,578 44,037
Dividend income from available-for-sale
investments A HERERBIA 41,850 41,004
Dividend income from investments at fair value
through profit or loss BATFEIABR 2 EERSWA 92 164
Government grants* BT f8 B 28,904 67,711
Compensation income B EUA 15,082 13,545
Tax refunds B 28,106 37,947
Others Hih 21,975 15,075
161,160 226,581
Gains I &=
Gain on disposal of by-products and scrap items  H & BIIZE T R EERNIE B #9 U 9,815 11,429
Foreign exchange differences, net P 5 =5 55 2,303 18,748
Fair value gain on investments at fair value BRAFEIABRREZ
through profit or loss AFERE = 14,587
Fair value gain on investment properties (note 17) & &Y% 2 A FEE (H3E17) 4,656 1,727
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) B B A B 2 Weas (P 3E36) - 394,884
Others HAth - 205
16,774 441,580
177,934 668,161
Represented by: RE
Other income and gains attributable to [ 7Y 3]
discontinued operations (note 13) ETIEH&)\&H&@(WEWS) - 101,177
Other income and gains attributable to A WATRE 2R
continuing operations reported BB S TSR
in the consolidated income statement Emﬂ&)\&l&m 177,934 566,984
177,934 668,161
* There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these * B BN B AER I R sk B FIH -

grants.
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PROFT BEFORE TAX 7. BRELAD&EA
The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):* ALE 2 BRBADEF TR, (GEA) TFIE
I8 #
2008 2007
20084 20074
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
Cost of inventories sold & HFEKA 10,705,535 11,432,837
Provision against inventories FERME 48,618 3,808
Realised fair value losses of derivative TAETIERSZEER
instrument transactions AFEEE = 7,789
Unrealised fair value losses of derivative PTTHET RS2 REH
instrument transactions ATAEERE = 31,494
Net gain arising from changes in fair value of EYEENTEES
biological assets (note 24) EE 7 F s (M sE24) (12,369) (10,555)
Cost of sales HEKA 10,741,784 11,465,373
Auditors’ remuneration 1% S4B 7 A 3,985 5,214
Depreciation (note 16) PrE (FzE16) 208,698 235,332
Amortisation of other intangible assets (note 20)  H fh 2 & EE#54 (Fi3520) 3,312 272
Minimum lease payments under operating BE - R TF ST 2 A FRLY
leases in respect of land and buildings HERELZH 81,053 57,790
Recognition of prepaid land premiums (note 18) RIEM e (HFE18) 4,654 5,091
Employee benefit expense (including BERAZ
directors’ remuneration — note 9): (BIEESME —KIFE9) ¢
Wages and salaries T & K3 613,970 454,062
Pension scheme contributions* RIRERE MR 55,299 36,244
Equity-settled share option expense RAGEE B 10,135 3,060
679,404 493,366
Other expenses include the following: HEibERBIE -
Loss on disposal of items of HEWE - HERE
property, plant and equipment BHZEE 4,278 3,261
Fair value loss on investments RATESABE
at fair value through profit or loss 2B NFEEE 10,158 -
Impairment of items of property, Y% - BE REEEE
plant and equipment (note 16) ZRE(KiEE16) - 58,621
Impairment of accounts receivable (note 26) FEURBR FORE (M 7E26) 2,029 273
Impairment of other receivables HoAth e WK I R B 2,628 10,508

At 31 December 2008, the Group had no forfeited contributions available

to reduce its contributions to the pension scheme in future years (2007:

Nil).

# The disclosures presented in this note include those amounts charged/

credited in respect of discontinued operations.

* H2008F 12 A31H + AL E M &ED LUk it
FX0] PR LA IR SR 4 R AR R R T 8 it 3k (2007
FMm) e

# AMEZRBBIEERULEEEB 2R,
A -
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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31 December 2008
2008%12H31H

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. FMERMAK
Group
F 31
2008 2007
20084 20074
HK$’000 HK$’000
FiE&T FAET
Interest on: FE
Bank loans wholly repayable within five years AFRNBEER ZIRITER 23,538 73,256
Loans from a fellow subsidiary and RRMBARLMEB AR
a minority shareholder of a subsidiary DERREREER 12,266 30,251
Others Eh 9,067 287
Total interest expense on financial liabilities ERANTFEIABREZEHARE
not at fair value through profit or loss e @zE 44,871 108,794
Less: Interest capitalised B BEAMERS (13,489) (5,750)
31,382 98,044
Attributable to discontinued operations (note 13) B 4% | F 4R & 276 e (5 (F13513) - 64,966
Attributable to continuing operations reported in - 4R & WA REK 2RI IFEL S
the consolidated income statement ES 92 31,382 33,078
31,382 98,044
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DIRECTORS" REMUNERATION 9. EEME

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules REERN  AEERBEEABEZIMER
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and ARES MR RFEEARGRIE1611F
Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows: ATEBEZEFHSWT -
Group
*EH
2008 2007
20084 20074
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FA&T
Fees: e
Executive directors WITES 200 376
Independent non-executive directors BN IEHITES 671 600
Non-executive director EHMITEE 183 78
1,054 1,054
Other emoluments: Hunis
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind N - EBEREYFIS 5,132 5,893
Discretionary bonuses FIEIEAL 1,831 2,599
Equity-settled share option expense IR A4 BB AR R 2 3,081 812
Pension scheme contributions RIRET BN 157 183
10,201 9,487
11,255 10,541
At the balance sheet date, certain directors held share options of the REEH  BETEERESERAEEREZ
Company, in respect of their services to the Group, further details AR mFFE A D RIERE - EF SRR %
of which are set out in note 33 to the financial statements. The fair WEN IS ZEEREZ ATE(ENE
value of the share options which has been recognised in the income BEIMERARER ARER) R E L A B
statement over the vesting period, was determined as at the date E - HSBAARNFERBHRE - WK Lt
of grant and the amount included in the financial statements for HEeNREE -
the current year is included in the above directors’ remuneration
disclosures.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
FsmENTE(E)

31 December 2008
2008% 12 A31H

9. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)
(@) Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during

9. EEHE(E)

(@) WIEMTESE
FA - XNTBULFATESEZH

the year were as follows: E UNNE
2008 2007
2008 20074
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAET
Mr. Li Hung-kwan, Alfred B Fopto 27 -
Mr. Stephen Edward Clark WAL {ESEAE 240 200
Mr. Tan Man Kou BRICESTAE 164 200
Mr. Yuen Tin Fan, Francis RANSTE 240 200
671 600

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent
non-executive directors during the year (2007: Nil).

(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors

RER - WEABIIFNTESS
fHEAD BN (20074 © &) -

(b) BITEERFEMTES

Salaries,
allowances Equity-settled Pension
and benefits share option scheme
inkind Discretionary expense contributions Total
Fees  %i& - &0 bonuses BFER BEE  remuneration
e REDIG BB BRERX & e
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TET FET T FET FET
2008 20085
Executive directors: BiTEE:
Mr. Ning Gaoning EREfE 200 - - 497 - 697
Mr. Qu Zhe HEIEE - 1,464 720 497 66 2,747
Mr. Mak Chi Wing,
William BERRAE - 663 77 451 - 1,191
Ms. Luan Xiuju BERBLT - 2,145 704 395 53 3,207
Mr. Zhang Zhentao RIRELE - 660 330 395 38 1,423
200 4,932 1,831 2,235 157 9,355
Non-executive director: FBITES :
Mr. Ma Jianping BEYEE 83 200 - 451 - 734
Ms. Wu Wenting RYfgr+ 100 - - 395 - 495
183 200 - 846 - 1,229
383 5,132 1,831 3,081 157 10,584
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DIRECTORS" REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors

9. EFME(E)
(b) BITEERERTEE(H)

(continued)
Salaries,
allowances Equity-settled Pension
and benefits share option scheme
inkind  Discretionary expense  contributions Total
Fees & 28t bonuses BAgEE BIRETEl  remuneration
e  REDNG Wi BRERS % EHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TER TAT TER TET TAT
2007 20074
Executive directors: BiTEE:
Mr. Ning Gaoning ERELE 200 - - 131 - 331
Mr. Liu Fuchun ARELE 44 - - - - 44
Mr. Qu Zhe SEEAE - 1,464 720 131 73 2,388
Mr. Xue Guoping EETRAE 44 - - - - 44
Mr. Liu Yongfu AxeisE 44 - - - - 44
Mr. Ma Jianping SRTEE - 1,200 560 119 60 1,939
Ms. Luan Xiuju BEBUT - 2,009 758 104 50 2,921
Mr. Zhang Zhentao RIRELE - 557 408 104 - 1,069
Mr. Yu Xubo FregsE 44 - - - - 44
Mr. Mak Chi Wing,
William EHEREE - 663 153 119 - 935
376 5,893 2,599 708 183 9,759
Non-executive director: FRITES :
Ms. Wu Wenting Rt 78 - - 104 - 182
454 5,893 2,599 812 183 9,941

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.

RER TEEERNHRELRBRES
MBS 2 28k -
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10.

154

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included four (2007:
four) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out in note 9
above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining one (2007: one)
non-director, highest paid employee for the year are as follows:

10.

hEmEHMNER
REENEERBHNZES  BENE
(20074 : B )EE - KBS FHBERA X
F 550 » A RH B — 4 (20074 © — %)
SEHNZFEFREZMEHIIMT -

Group

*5%H
2008 2007
20085 20074
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FHIT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind He R NEYTG 792 742
Discretionary bonuses EIEIEAT 528 495
Equity-settled share option expense AR A 4 E R AR S 395 104
Pension scheme contributions RURETEIHER 36 -
1,751 1,341

At the balance sheet date, the non-director, highest paid employee,
held share options of the Company, in respect of his services to the
Group, further details of which are set out in note 33 to the financial
statements. The fair value of the share options, which has been
recognised to the income statement over the vesting period, was
determined as at the date of grant and the amount included in the
financial statements for the current year is included in the above non-
director, highest paid employee’s remuneration disclosures.

The number of non-director, highest paid employee whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

WEER  —BUFEEZRSFESRE
A N SR B 1 2 AR A 1 155 AN A R R AR
HEABHNM B REM 33 - ZFBIREZ
AHE(EREBHRRERARENRER) T
RELAHETE - 2B ARFERER
& IR EAFEEZHSFHEEMES AR

==

52 o

BREHEECGEER) 2HEHNNMR THERZ
AR ¢

Number of employees

EE®E
2008 2007
20085 20074
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 71,500,000/ 7T - 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T £2,000,000/% 7T 1 -
1 1
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11.

TAX 11.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2007:
17.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong
during the year. The lower Hong Kong profits tax rate is effective
from the year of assessment 2008/2009, and so is applicable to the
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for the whole year ended 31
December 2008. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which
the Group operates, based on existing legislation, interpretations and

I8
EEFERIYREBEFRNERBEL 2 BTE
RFEFNIR16.5% (20074F : 17.5% ) B R 5t
H o K2 HBFISHER 2008, 2009F :#
T E AR - WiEAREZE2008F12A31H
I EBEAFEEESBEEZERBEF o Hi
M J5 2 FE SR T ) 4 2N Bk [ SE TG P AE mUAHE
@2 RITHERIBEEMIRITEAD - RERIE
BIEtE -

practices in respect thereof.

2008 2007
20085 20074
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Group: REE:
Current — Hong Kong BVER— &%
Charge for the year RNEENR 9 2,457
Current — Elsewhere in the PRC BUHA — AR B E Ath it 75
Charge for the year REEZEMB 154,529 216,100
Overprovision in prior years BEFEERERE (514) (3,063)
Investment tax credits BIREERRM (13,872) (31,195)
Deferred (note 31) IRIERITE (BT EE31) (3,901) (23,850)
Total tax charge for the year ANEEFHIBL HBE 136,251 160,449
Represented by: R
Tax charge attributable to discontinued BRI B EGTHIES
operations (note 13) (M$3E13) = 24,657
Tax charge attributable to continuing
operations reported in the consolidated FAWARE M IFELE
income statement HISE(ERIIES 1 136,251 135,792
136,251 160,449
LT EE P NPIES T 1)
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11.

156

TAX (CONTINUED) 11, BIEGE)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax using IUTEFAAAR - EXEHDMER R M
the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the Company and the FRE RDAR 2R FE B R 5 B M E MR B B
majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the Mz BRSO EIRRERB R 2 HR
effective tax rates, and a reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e., the MHZFEHIEE - A LERABE (BLEE B
statutory tax rates) to the effective tax rates, are as follows: F)EERTR 2 HEIER
Group - 2008 & 5RME —20085F
Hong Kong Mainland China Total
B HE R &kt
HK$'000 % HK$'000 % HK$'000 %
THET T#T THET
Profit before tax HATE A 10,266 746,064 756,330
Tax at the statutory tax rates RETREHE L HE 1,694 16.5 186,516 25.0 188,210 24.9
Lower tax rate for specific provinces
or enacted by local authority * B R R - - (2,441) (0.3) (2,441) 0.3)
Profit not subject to tax due to A BEEmEERD
concessions ** 2 = = (31,265) (42)  (31,265) (4.1)
Profits attrioutable to associates BENAEIRT = = (31,249) (42)  (31,249) (4.1)
Income not subject to tax BERHZBA (12,939) (126.0) (25,378) (3.4) (38,317) (5.1)
Expenses not deductible for tax ARz Y 11,254 109.6 19,824 2.7 31,078 441
Adjustment in closing deferred tax dueto  FRIER EEBM{EH
change in deferred tax rate BRRBLERAR = = (94) = (94) -
Tax rebates R = - (13,872) (1.9) (13,872) (1.8)
Tax losses utiised from previous periods &)@/ #AF 2 12 - - (8,846) 1.2) (8,846) (12)
Tax losses not recognised KRR - - 43,047 5.8 43,047 5.7
REBEEHEHEL
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate FIEXH 9 0.1 136,242 18.3 136,251 18.1
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11.

TAX (CONTINUED) 11, BIEE)
Group - 2007 REE —20074
Hong Kong Mainland China Total
BB HE R CH
HK$'000 % HK$'000 % HK$'000 %
TAL FET FET
Profit before tax * HBEF 432,304 765,564 1,197,868
Tax at the statutory tax rates REEREHELHE 75,693 17.5 252,636 33.0 328,289 274
Lower tax rate for specific provinces
or enacted by local authority * CER LY S - - (65,618) (7.3) (65,618) (4.6)
Profit not subject to tax due to EREERMEERN
concessions Pyl - - (22,602) (3.0) (22,602) (1.8)
Tax credit utiised during the year FREAHELS - - (3,251) (0.4) (3,251) (0.3)
Profits attrioutable to associates BENAESRT - - (35,536) (4.6) (35,536) (3.0)
Income not subject to tax BERB A (83,197) (19.2) (3,939) 0.5) (87,136) (7.3)
Expenses not deductible for tax TAMB i 10,001 2.3 35,731 4.7 45,732 3.8
Effect on deferred tax of change in rates HESHHELHE ZE - - (898) 0.1) (898) ©.1)
Adjustment in respect of current tax DBEHmz B AR
of previous periods e - - (3,063) 0.4) (3,083) 0.3)
Tax rebates bt - - (31,195) 4.1) (31,195) (2.6)
Tax losses utiised from previous periods &)@ (E #AFS 2 18 - - (1,550) (0.2) (1,550) (0.1)
Tax losses not recognised KR - - 27,277 35 21,217 23
BAEEERHRHE
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate JHETH 2,457 0.6 157,992 20.6 160,449 134

Under the PRC income tax laws, enterprises are subject to corporate
income tax (“CIT”) at rate of 25%. However, certain of the Group’s
subsidiaries are operating in specific development zones in Mainland
China, and the relevant authorities have granted these subsidiaries a
preferential CIT rate of 18% (2007: rates ranging from 15% to 30%).

ke

In addition to the preferential CIT rates granted to the Group’s certain
subsidiaries in Mainland China, tax holidays were also granted by the
relevant authorities to these subsidiaries, where CIT is exempted for the
first two profitable years of the subsidiaries and is chargeable at half of
the applicable rates for the subsequent three years.

# Included profit before tax from discontinued operations.

The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to
HK$13,002,000 (2007: HK$17,152,000) is included in “Share
of profits of associates” on the face of the consolidated income
statement.

* BIEFBIFTEEE - b EBER25% MR
BINEMER([CEMER] - A &
EEETHE R R TR B A A R % R
WECEER  ERERCETHENBER
RI18%MEREBEABHE(2007F « N T
15%230%) °

o BRAER B B A A0 T A R R
BEOEAEHEI  ARERERTZSE
MBARRHE - BB AR &M EER
FREBRBRHMNDEMEH - TRBERNO=
EFERERREN—FHRDEMEN -

" BIECR IS EBRHBEF -
FE AL B & 2 B 2 B TH A& 13,002,000 78 7T

(20074 : 17,152,000/ 7T) * WH ALRE U
NERZ [ FERH 2 R RDER | o
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31 December 2008
2008%12H31H

12. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS 12.

OF THE COMPANY

The consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of the

Company for the year ended 31 December 2008 includes a loss of
HK$38,430,000 (2007: HK$12,297,000) which has been dealt with in
the financial statements of the Company.

ZN/NCIl &S SEEPN il

HZE2008F 12 A31 B It FEARRQ B AE
BEABESEEREFNBETALRB 2B
R 4 A 2 5 18 38,430,000 % 7T (2007 4F -
12,297,000 7T) °

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 13. BRI EFER
The results of the Spin-off Group for the year of 2007 are presented DIFEER2007FFE 2 EEZTWT ¢
below:
2007
20074
HK$'000
FAT
Revenue WA 4,594,069
Cost of sales SHER AN (4,147,676)
Gross profit EA 446,393
Other income and gains H AU A Rz 101,177
Expenses Fsz (277,154)
Finance costs Bh& R AN (64,966)
Share of profits of associates FE(EBE S N T 58,976
Profit before tax from the discontinued operations DR BT 7 BT R 264,426
Tax related to pre-tax profit BRBFADE R Z BE (24,657)
Profit for the year from the discontinued operations 4% |F 48 & 5 75 7 ARF % T 239,769
Attributable to: FEIETT -
Equity holders of the Company RABRAIZTE A 195,832
Minority interests DEIR RS 43,937
239,769
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13.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (CONTINUED) 13. BRIFEE K (E)

The net cash flows incurred by the Spin-off Group are as follows: Ao RSEBESAZRSMEENT
2007
20074
HK$'000
FET
Operating activities KRS 31,667
Investing activities REES (375,340)
Financing activities BhAEE) 325,417
Net cash outflow BemdiF5 (18,256)
2007
20074
Earnings per share s eyl
Basic from discontinued operations R REEKRIEKLEER HK7.02 cents i#il
Diluted from discontinued operations - RERR I EE HK7.01 cents 3l

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share from

discontinued operations was based on:

E%%JJ:”“%%%‘“Z#&%ZS&%%%% TyiR
BETPABEE

Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
Company from discontinued operations

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue during the year used in the basic earnings
per share calculation

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used
in the diluted earnings per share calculation

2007
20074F
RABEBRRAFE ARIGE&ILE
LR HK$195,832,0008% 71
SHHEGRERRFMERZ
REFDBEITLERERZ
IEFHH 2,791,383,356
SESREERRIGEAC LR
IR E 2,792,103,066
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14.

15.

160

DIVIDENDS 14, B
2008 2007
20085 20074
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FHT FET
Interim — HK2.4 cents (2007: Nil) FRHEARY B — A @A 45
per ordinary share (20074 : &) 66,993 -
Proposed final — HK3.84 cents BRARHR B — SR T mAR3.84 781
(2007: HK4.5 cents) per ordinary share (20074F : 4.575(L) 107,189 125,612
Special interim (notes 1 and 37) FERI A B B (P 511 ]37) - 6,234,148
174,182 6,359,760

At a meeting held on 9 April 2009, the board proposed a final dividend
of HK3.84 cents per share for the year. This recommended dividend is
subject to the approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming general
meeting and it is not reflected as dividend payable in these accounts,
but will be paid out of the Company’s contributed surplus.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 15.

TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

The calculation of basic earnings per share amount for the year is
based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the Company of HK$483,427,000 (2007: HK$791,686,000) and
the weighted average number of 2,791,383,356 ordinary shares (2007:
2,791,383,356) in issue during the year.

The calculation of basic earnings per share amount from continuing
operations for the year is based on the profit for the year attributable
to ordinary equity holders of the Company of HK$483,427,000
(2007: HK$595,854,000) and the weighted average number of
2,791,383,356 ordinary shares (2007: 2,791,383,356) in issue during
the year.

No amount of diluted earnings per share for the year has been
disclosed as no diluting effect existed during the year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share amount for the

year ended 31 December 2007 is based on the profit for that

year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company of
HK$791,686,000. The calculation of diluted earnings per share
amount from continuing operations for the year ended 31 December
2007 was based on the profit for that year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the Company of HK$595,854,000. The weighted
average number of 2,792,103,066 ordinary shares used in the
calculations is the number of 2,791,383,356 ordinary shares in issue
during that year, as used in the basic earnings per share calculation,
and the weighted average number of 719,710 ordinary shares
assumed to have been issued at no consideration on the deemed
exercise of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.
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R2000F4RoBBRTr@% L  EEgE
FHIRBEAFE RGN E B384 o &
FRENRESFREREBERITHRE
REXg HHE - MEBRERREZREIL &K
R EREB PIIERMRE - BEBAR
BIZBABHBI T -

AR FEBBRRASS G A
(EEREF

RNEE 2 FREABF TR EFANARE
BAY AL AR 3 B ARG i 1 483,427,00078 7T
(20074 : 791,686,000/87T) * HAEER
B 217 2 38 AR N F 5 812,791,383,356 1%
(20074F : 2,791,383,356[% )51 & -

REBELLER I ATESRERRT
TDREAFERARGEBERBEAZE
A JE 1l 35 F 483,427,000 7 JT (2007 & -
595,854,000 7C) * RAFEANDBITE B
Ji% 4 S 5 £ 2,791,383,356 i (2007 £F -
2,791,383,356/% )5t & ©

HRARFEL NFAEEAEEE WA E
BREAFEGRESRNZ 2/

HZE2007F12 A31 H L FE SR ERF]
M B DIREARFEARD G LB A
B AEEF791,686,0008 it HE - HE
2007F12AB THILREFEBLEERB 2 F
EERBERFNNSCBIREZFELAA
A% M AR IR A B A B 4 595,854,000
FEILETE o sFE R YL @ AR DA 19 8K
2,792,103,066/% * JYARFHESREAZF
FARNFEANE BT BREE 2,791,383,356
B - RBEBRGE BT ST MRS
EEBEITEY A ERE TR INEFTH
719, 71008 L BB ©



16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. W% - MWENMERE

Group Company
F&E /NG|
Plant,
machinery
and
equipment Construction Plant and
Buildings BB+ in progress Total equipment
BF BERRE ERIE #it RBEREE
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT TET FET FET FT#ET
31 December 2008 2008128310
At 31 December 2007 and #2007412A31H
at 1 January 2008: K2008F1A1H ¢ 1,178,053 2,149,177 42,294 3,369,524 1,814
Cost 5%
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment ZEERRE (270,675)  (1,016,270) - (1,286,945) (1,814)
Net carrying amount REFE 907,378 1,132,907 42,294 2,082,579 -
At 1 January 2008, net of #2008F1 /18
accumulated depreciation MBEFER
and impairment HEBRFE 907,378 1,132,907 42,294 2,082,579 -
Additions B 39,628 204,666 207,947 452,241 -
Disposals HE (7,558) (15,117) - (22,675) -
Depreciation provided during the year — FRITERE (36,027) (172,671) - (208,698) -
Transfers L2772 35,417 53,487 (88,904) - -
Exchange realignment [ i = 53,808 70,877 6,340 131,025 -
At 31 December 2008, net of #A2008F12A31H -
accumulated depreciation HBREHTER
and impairment RERRFE 992,646 1,274,149 167,677 2,434,472 -
At 31 December 2008: #2008F12A318 :
Cost DN 1,291,911 2,515,652 167,677 3,975,240 1,814
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment ZETERRE (299,265)  (1,241,503) - (1,540,768) (1,814)
Net carrying amount REFE 992,646 1,274,149 167,677 2,434,472 -
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16.

162

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. % - WE K&E(E)

(CONTINUED)
Group Company
AEE AUNG|
Plant,
machinery
and
equipment  Construction Plant and
Buildings HE in progress Total equipment
BF  EHRRE ERTRE gt BERSE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TET FET FET FAT
31 December 2007 2007128318
At 31 December 2006 and 2006127311
at 1 January 2007: K2007F1A1A
Cost AR 3,062,946 4,862,731 1,163,572 9,089,249 1,814
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment ZEtERRE (597,520)  (1,708,468) - (2,305,988) (1,774)
Net carrying amount REFE 2,465,426 3,154,263 1,163,572 6,783,261 40
At 1 January 2007, net of #R2007F1 /318 -
accumulated depreciation NB BEHTE RAER
and impairment HFE 2,465,426 3,154,263 1,163,572 6,783,261 40
Additions NG 12,032 135,323 1,029,217 1,176,572 -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 35) U BB R B A R (P 3E35) 200,303 176,685 - 376,988 -
Impairment AE (13,085) (45,536) - (58,621) -
Disposals HE (2,150) (15,046) (1,690) (18,886) -
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) e E A F (FH5E36) (48,991) (44,676) (104) (93,771) -
Spin-off of CAH (note 37) ARSI (EEs7)  (2,007,602) (2,355,363) (1,684,584)  (6,047,549) -
Depreciation provided during the year — FRHTERE (41,235) (194,097) - (235,332) (40)
Transfers 174 257,860 228,773 (486,633) - -
Exchange realignment & 5 84,820 92,581 22,516 199,917 -
At 31 December 2007, net of R2007412A31H »
accumulated depreciation Nk BEHTE ROBER
and impairment HFE 907,378 1,132,907 42,294 2,082,579 -
At 31 December 2007: 20074128318 :
Cost B 1,178,053 2,149,177 42,294 3,369,524 1,814
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment ZEHERRE (270,675)  (1,016,270) - (1,286,945) (1,814)
Net carrying amount RESE 907,378 1,132,907 42,294 2,082,579 -
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16.

17.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16.
(CONTINUED)

All of the Group’s buildings are held outside Hong Kong under
medium term leases.

At 31 December 2008, certain of the Group’s buildings with a net
book value of approximately HK$19,623,000 (2007: HK$45,680,000)
were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group (note 30).

As at 31 December 2008, certificates of ownership in respect of
certain buildings of the Group in Mainland China with an aggregate
net book value of HK$243,106,000 (2007: HK$29,521,000) had not
been issued by the relevant PRC authorities. The directors anticipate
that these certificates will be issued in the near future.

For the year ended 31 December 2007, impairment was recognised
in the income statement in respect of certain items of property, plant
and equipment as a result of the closure of a production line. The
recoverable amount was estimated based on those items’ scrap

ME - WE K (E)

AEBEMAZTHREDPHEOREHE LA
WREFA -

M2008F12A31H » "REBEREFENA
19,623,0007% 7T (2007 4F : 45,680,000/ 7T )
ZEF  DRASEERBITREN TUE
R (FIFE30) °

M2008F12 A31H » ANEBE KA B A A
B TEFHERFES 243,106,000 7T
(20074F : 29,521,000/ 7T) + AHE B ES
AR IE BTG R c ERTEAA
TGS E L EE -

HZE2007F12A31HIEFE - BAREHA—KE
B RRABRRARE THE - BERE
BIEERARE - B EHREZSA
B ZREEEH AR -

values.
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17. WEME
Group
AKRE
2008 2007
2008 20074
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
Carrying amount at 1 January M1A1BZREE 58,000 52,389
Additions NE 3,394 -
Net profit from a fair value adjustment E A TAE TR i 2 A K F R 4,656 1,727
Exchange realignment Rk 3,834 3,884
Carrying amount at 31 December M2A31BZ REE 69,884 58,000

All of the Group’s investment properties are held outside Hong Kong
under medium term leases.

AEEMAREYMEARETHHEONER
LASM R FFA o
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S EmEMTE(E)
31 December 2008
2008%12H31H

17.

18.

164

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 17.

The Group’s investment properties were revalued on 31 December
2008 by Savills Valuation and Professional Services Limited,
independent professionally qualified valuers, at HK$69,884,000
(2007: HK$58,000,000) on an open market, existing use basis. The
investment properties are leased to third parties under operating
leases, further summary details of which are included in note 39(a) to

the financial statements.

At 31 December 2008, the Group’s investment properties with a
carrying value of HK$65,767,000 (2007: HK$58,000,000) were
pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group (note 30).

SEMEE)

MR2008F12A31H » BUEEAEREE
ME—AFHENGEELREEBEREGR AR
REBEARMRARMES LHAEBZE
Y3 = #1{i5 B 569,884,0007% 7t (2007 4 -
58,000,000/ 7T) ° ZEFR AW EHRIFK
EHRAMBATE=T - Ha BB o4
HwEMIFE39(a)

R20084 12 A31H » AKEZREER
65,767,00078 7T.(2007 4 : 58,000,000/ 7T.)
ZEEWME - TIRAREERIBITREN T
PAB R (F5£30) ©

PREPAID LAND PREMIUMS 18. FEffTtie
Group
*&E
2008 2007
2008 20074
HK$’000 HK$’000
T FAT
Carrying amount at 1 January M A1BZEREE 132,159 478,516
Additions RNE 24,776 14,563
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 35) WM B AR (M3E35) - 11,058
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) HENE AR (MFE36) - (4,638)
Spin-off of CAIH (note 37) DR R (M EE37) = (375,663)
Recognised during the year FNER (4,654) (5,091)
Exchange realignment [ A EE 8,512 13,414
Carrying amount at 31 December M2 A31 B Z REE 160,793 132,159
Current portion included in prepayments, BENENTIE - HE &
deposits and other receivables Hofth e Y I8 > BNEAED 3 (4,291) (12,894)
Non-current portion JERNEAEE > 156,502 119,265

The leasehold land is held under medium term leases and is situated

in Mainland China.

As at 31 December 2008, certificates of land use rights in respect of
certain land of the Group in Mainland China with an aggregate net
book value of HK$16,881,000 (2007: HK$15,920,000) had not been
issued by the relevant PRC authorities. The directors anticipate that

these certificates will be issued in the near future.
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19.

GOODWILL Bk
Group
&M
2008 2007
20085 20074
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FAT
At 1 January: ®1A18 :
Cost D& 1,332,857 1,477,691
Accumulated impairment 2FHRE = -
Net carrying amount SREFE 1,332,857 1,477,691
Cost at 1 January, net of accumulated
impairment PTATBZAKA - 0k REHRE 1,332,857 1,477,691
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 35) U BE R B A 7] (M FE35) = 414,014
Spin-off of CAIH (note 37) S h B hiE AR (M 2E37) = (574,268)
Exchange realignment [ A 76,485 15,420
At 31 December M12H318 1,409,342 1,332,857
At 31 December: M12A31H -
Cost D% 1,409,342 1,332,857
Accumulated impairment ERpiE - _
Net carrying amount FREFE 1,409,342 1,332,857

The amount of the goodwill remaining in the consolidated reserves,
arising from the acquisition of subsidiaries and associates prior

to the adoption of SSAP 30 in 2001, was HK$89,540,000 as at

31 December 2007 and 2008. The amount of goodwill is stated

at its cost of HK$261,897,000, less cumulative impairment of
HK$172,357,000 which arose in prior years.

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated
to the following cash-generating units, which are reportable segments,

for impairment testing:

o Wines cash-generating unit;
° Confectionery cash-generating unit; and
. Beverages cash-generating unit.

RBUELGEFEBZHE(EAR2001 FRAE
T EIS RIS 305 AT BB M B A A B &
A \) M E A ) 72007 4 K% 20084 12 A31 H
#$89,540,000 78 7T © 7 E R EE Jh iR H A AR
261,897,000 7t + J& 251 E1E 172,357,000
BIR(RBEFEEEEL)MIIE -

8 R (E R
EREBAGTRBZEE EHRENT
Re AR (TT 25 ) LAERER
=¥

BRBR S EE BN
BRACELEMN M
IR B EL B -
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19.

166

GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

The recoverable amount of each of the above cash-generating units
is determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering periods ranging from
one to five years approved by senior management. The discount
rates applied to the cash flow projections ranged from 10% to 14%
and cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using

a growth rate of 2% — 3% in perpetuity because of the long-term
perspective within the Group of the business unit.

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of the cash-
generating units is as follows:

19.

mE(E)

R E R (6R)

ifoﬁﬁ}gﬁi 572 ATUR B FREE - TOIR K
EREEETE - EREEMZESRERRE
HERE— iiﬁiﬁﬂfﬁzﬁﬂﬁﬁ”@ﬁ]ﬁ
BRESTREFE - RERETRABEAZ
BRI ENFIM0%E14% ° AR ARE B E
BEMZERHRE  @BAFHIRASRE
1R2%—3% 2 K AIEREHER o

DEZEEREELBLHERMENT

Group

X&EE
2008 2007
2008 20074
HK$’000 HK$’000
T FAT
Wines ik 440,567 404,306
Confectionery RN 11,610 11,610
Beverages #ort 957,165 916,941
1,409,342 1,332,857

Key assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the
cash-generating units for 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2007.
The following describes each key assumption on which management
has based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing
of goodwill.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross
margins achieved in the year immediately before the budget year,
increased for expected efficiency improvements and expected market
development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and reflect
specific risks relating to the relevant units.

Raw materials price inflation — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to raw materials price inflation is the forecast price indices
during the budget year for countries from where raw materials are
sourced.

The values assigned to key assumptions are consistent with external
information sources.
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20.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20. EtmEBREE
Group F5%E
Software
Rt
HK$’000
FAT

31 December 2008 2008%12A31H
Cost at 1 January 2008, net of accumulated

amortisation 200851 A1 8 Z BAR RET 5 17,179
Additions NE 21,159
Amortisation provided during the year FNE RS (3,312)
Exchange realignment &5 R 1613
At 31 December 2008 2008912 A31H 36,639
At 31 December 2008: 72008F12H31H :

Cost PR AR 37,997

Accumulated amortisation and

exchange realignment RETHE G R H R (1,358)

Net carrying amount IR HE 36,639
31 December 2007 2007%12A31H
Additions NE 16,838
Amortisation provided during the year F B R E (272)
Exchange realignment FEE 3, 3 613
At 31 December 2007 2007912 A31H 17,179
At 31 December 2007: #2007F12H318 :

Cost PR AR 16,838

Accumulated amortisation and

exchange realignment BT R R 341
Net carrying amount IR FE 17,179

TEARERAR ossEss 1067
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31 December 2008
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271. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 21. RHBARZERS
Company
r- /NS
2008 2007
20085 20074
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FAT
Unlisted shares, at cost LRS- RRAE 2,106,712 2,749,426
Due from subsidiaries S EEVNEIDAE:N 4,432,770 3,060,153
Due to subsidiaries KRB AT RIA (534,898) (503,906)
6,004,584 5,305,673
Impairment VERIE] - (140,824)
6,004,584 5,164,849

The balances with subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and

not expected to be repaid within the next 12 months. The carrying
amounts of these amounts due from/to subsidiaries approximate to
their fair values. Certain subsidiaries were disposed of during the year.

The value of the unlisted shares is based on:

(@) the book values of the underlying net assets of the subsidiaries
attributable to the Group as at the date when the Company
became the holding company of the Group pursuant to the

group reorganisation in 1991; and

(b) the costs of acquisitions of certain subsidiaries in 2001 and
2006.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December
2008 are set out in note 42 to the financial statements.
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22.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 22, REtE AR ZER
Group
E- 310
2008 2007
20085 2007
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Share of net assets MEBEFE 411,951 151,195
Due from associates FEU B N B FIE - 5,958
Due to associates JEfTER A RIFRIB = (920)
411,951 156,233

The above balances with associates were unsecured, interest-free
and had no fixed terms of repayment. The carrying amounts of these
balances approximate to their fair values.

The balances with associates included in current assets and current
liabilities are unsecured, interest-free and repayable within one year.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of
the Group’s associates extracted from their financial statements, or
where appropriate, management accounts:

bt BB S N R 2 A ERTYERIRIR - R B R
BEESY 2SS RaEREQTE
18

BEMRBEERRDE BN @ ENF
AR REIIN - B NAR—FAEER -

TREERBZEAKEBZ QR 2P BRE
HEILIRE (WER) 2B AR E -

2008 2007

2008 20074

HK$°000 HK$'000

T FAT

Assets BE 5,925,945 2,032,501
Liabilities BE 3,918,961 1,333,586
Revenue A 10,119,973 4,469,119
Profit Al 393,554 221,511

Particulars of the Group’s associates as at 31 December 2008 are set
out in note 43 to the financial statements.

BEAREER20085F12 31 B 2 BE AR
5 BRI MEM L3
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31 December 2008
2008%12H31H

22.

23.

170

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 22. REgE AR ZE=R(E)
On 31 January 2008, the Group entered into a sale and purchase 2200851 H31H » A& B HEEFH T Coca-
agreement with a connected party, Coca-Cola South Asia Holdings, Cola South Asia Holdings, Inc.5] 3 5 & 1
Inc., to acquire a 21% share interest in Coca-Cola Bottlers o WIS RE AR 148,280,0007T (4
Manufacturing Holdings Limited (“CCBMH?), at a cash consideration 161,057,000/ 7T ) ¥ #Coca-Cola Bottlers
of RMB 148,280,000 (approximately HK$161,057,000). CCBMH Manufacturing Holdings Limited([ CCBMH |)
holds a 100% equity interest in Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufacturing 21% 2 Betn iAE - CCBMHF A /] O AJ 86K
(Dongguan) Co., Ltd., which is principally engaged in the production MEEE(RZ)ARAR (BN ELER
of still beverages under the trademarks of The Coca-Cola Company Al A A]£Ln E) N R 2 N R R AR 2 FFEAR L
and its affiliates. The acquisition was completed on 21 February 2008. BREHEE fn ) 100% 1 25 © UHE = IH 7 20084 2
Further details of this acquisition are set out in the Company’s circular H21B 7K - B R R E— S FHBEEHAR
dated 21 February 2008. ANARBHEIA20085F2 A21B 2K »
The Group’s share of the fair values of the identifiable assets and Rz B - RNEEEHCCBMHZ AT # Al
liabilities of CCBMH as at the date of acquisition is HK$201,959,000, BEENBEZRAFEA201,959,000% T -
which resulted in an excess of fair value of net assets acquired over SUWBEEFEZATEBEK AR Z5
cost of HK$40,902,000 recognised as an income included in the 40,902,000/ 7L AR & WA IR R FE(L B &
“share of profits of associates” on the face of the consolidated income RNELE A IRERBUA -
statement.
AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS AND 23. AHHERENRHEBEER
RELATED ADVANCES
Group
.31
2008 2007
20084 20074
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Unlisted equity investments elsewhere HAEAIMDE 2 FE FTRAERE -
than Hong Kong, at fair value BAYE 11,672 8,707
Unlisted equity investments elsewhere BBAIMOE 2 I FTRAKE -
than Hong Kong, at cost HRAE 198,782 198,782
Amount due from investee companies SERENTZ R 901 5,966
211,355 213,455

The amounts due from investee companies are unsecured, interest-
free and have no fixed terms of repayment. The carrying amounts
of the amounts due from investee companies approximate to its fair
value.

Certain unlisted equity investments were stated at cost less

impairment because the directors are of the opinion that their fair
value cannot be measured reliably.
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24,

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS 24. HMEE

Group
&M
2008 2007
20084 20074
HK$’000 HK$’000
T FAT
At 1 January M AR 72,070 53,584
Decrease due to harvest R WS A 3t (15,133) (13,593)
Additions during the year FARNE 2,204 7,931
Gains arising from changes in fair value REE#2ES A FLEBERE
attributable to physical changes FTEE & 2 Was 27,502 24,148
At 31 December M12A31H 86,643 72,070
(a) Analysis of biological assets (@) HEPEEZII
At the end of the financial year, the Group’s total planted area MR EER&ER  NEER A
of mature plantations is as follows: RAEEE 2 BEAEmBENT
Group
&M
2008 2007
2008%F 20074
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FAT
Matured planted area: ERABERE - 86,643 72,070
Group
*EHE
2008 2007
20085 20074
Hectares Hectares
N N
Matured planted area: ERFABERTE - 559 558
cERSEMAE coszms 171



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
FsmENTE(E)

31 December 2008
2008%12H31H

24, BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

24, EYEE(E)

(b) Analysis of grape production b) FEEEZHH
During the financial year, the Group harvested approximately RAFHRFE - AEBEHE WKL
3,771,900 kilograms (2007: 4,218,572 kilograms) of grape, 3,771,900 /T (2007 4 : 4,218,572
which had a fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs of D) ERTFEBMGETHEE K
HK$15,133,000 (2007: HK$13,593,000). The fair value of 7K A& 15,133,000 & 7T ( 2007 F :
grape was determined by considering the present value of 13,593,000/ 7C) - @& Z AFETY
expected net cash flow from the grape vines. KERBEBEEBHRRSRETF
BBREMEE
Significant assumptions made in determining the fair value of EBTEMEEZ ATFERELZ
the biological assets are as follows: FERBZEAT -
0] the grape vines will continue to be competently (i) BENKEEETLER
managed and remain free from irremediable diseases RERT 2 fh 7] AR IR
in the remaining estimated useful lives; e
(ii) the expected prices of grapes are based on the past (i) BB B ER IR ZME
actual average district prices; and BEZERTFHEREER
iR
(iii) the future cash flows have been discounted at the (i) RRRESRECEBESS
target rate of return on equity of the Wines segment. ZIREEREIRE 2 BIEL
EHTHIE o
25. INVENTORIEES 25. ¥&
Group
KM
2008 2007
20085 20074
HK$’000 HK$’000
TFHET FHET
Raw materials B 1,283,688 835,801
Work in progress B 2,024 2,704
Finished goods BIRK @ 1,343,145 1,129,816
2,628,857 1,968,321

172 chinaFoods Limited Annual Report 2008



20.

ACCOUNTS AND BILLS RECEVABLE 26. EWERERREZE
Group
xRE
2008 2007
20084 20074
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHxT FET
Accounts and bills receivable JEUSBR TR N ZE i 913,826 1,022,850
Impairment RIE (29,327) (25,671)
884,499 997,179
The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit, BEHEEI  RNEBBHEEZE B SIERTY

except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required. The credit period is generally for 30 to 90 days. Each
customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables and has a credit control
department to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management. In view of the aforementioned and
the fact that the Group’s accounts receivable relate to a large number
of diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of credit
risk. Accounts and bills receivable are non-interest-bearing and are
normally settled within one to three months and one to six months,
respectively.

An aged analysis of the accounts and bills receivable as at the

IE&ZTJi’*hﬁmﬁgﬁﬁﬁﬁ
cZEEH—MNTI0HZEWNAR - FEF
%ﬁr%%tm NE B SR BRIEIE
HOREBRIERR - WA EEEHIE
BREEERRBERE - mREEETH
ﬂﬁ@%%%o%%iﬂ%ﬁyu&$il
FRABTEAEFZERER - REER
ZERREEITHE - BUES &mﬁﬂﬁ
8 —ROR—E==Z@AM—Z=XMEAE

1
o

BERAZBYERREBEREDITIT

balance sheet date, based on the invoice date and net of impairment, (Lﬂém HERAREZE - WHIFRRE) -
is as follows:
Group
E 311
2008 2007
2008 20074
HK$’000 HK$’000
T FAT
Outstanding balances with ages: FEBEHZIERNT ¢
Within 3 months =@EAR 588,766 635,103
3 to 12 months “ERAE+=EAR 291,551 357,641
110 2 years —EEWER 4,182 4,430
Over 2 years BB G - 5
884,499 997,179
PERSEMAE co0sEEns 1713
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31 December 2008
2008%12H31H

26. ACCOUNTS AND BILLS RECEINVABLE 26. YRR ER (&)
(CONTINUED)
The movements in the provision for impairment of accounts receivable FEUERFUREREE SN T -
are as follows:
Group
*5KE
2008 2007
20084 20074
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
At 1 January M A1H 25,671 38,479
Acquisition of subsidiaries 1= - 1,032
Impairment losses recognised (note 7) B R R EEE (FsE7) 2,029 273
Amount written off as uncollectible 5l R RE Y - EEE (22) (13,678)
Spin-off of CAIH DR E SRR = (2,637)
Exchange realignment [ A EE 1,649 2,202
At 31 December ®12H318 29,327 25,671
The individually impaired accounts receivable relate to customers that 28 R B 2 e 4 R 3k T R B A B B R
were in financial difficulties and only a portion of the receivables is BEFAH - EAMEATYE — 20D EUERK
expected to be recovered. The Group does not hold any collateral or REEW EPZ S A A TR R R
other credit enhancements over these balances. FREME AR -
The aged analysis of the accounts and bills receivable that are not RAEREEREZRBERREE ZREKR Y
considered to be impaired is as follows: T
Group
*5KE
2008 2007
20084 20074
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Outstanding balances with ages: REBEHRZIRROT
Neither past due nor impaired AEHAINARE 740,930 844,774
Less than 1 month past due B E A LA 15,487 16,441
1 to 3 months past due B =38 A 46,462 49,323
More than 3 months but less than
12 months past due BEASE A LA B 12E A 81,620 86,641
884,499 997,179
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20.

217,

28.

ACCOUNTS AND BILLS RECENABLE 6.
(CONTINUED)

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a large
number of diversified customers for whom there was no recent history
of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number
of independent customers that have a good track record with the
Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the Company are
of the opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary in respect
of these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over
these balances.

INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 27.
PROFIT OR LOSS

FEW AR N R ()

RBEATIARRE 2 U ER R T B % 4 3 BASD
BRREXERZEEEPER -

BEBHMERFE 2 AR S 2 3B T £
FEBZHTHRIFZBITFERH - £
NEREER - ARFEERR > ANKFHER
ZEEERUENBEREEHRMFE R
R - M ES B RS BRI RE
B o AKEYN B FEBRI A TRER
A SRR

BRANFEIABRIKE

Group Company
&M -3/
2008 2007 2008 2007
20085 20074 20085 20074
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FHERT FET THT FET
Listed equity securities in

Hong Kong, at fair value BEELTRE  EATE 9,228 16,825 7,204 14,301

The above investments at 31 December 2007 and 2008 were
classified as held for trading.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 28.
PLEDGED DEPOSITS

742007 4 2008412 A31 H Lilt 1R & 48
RRHERS -

BERASSEN LD ER

Group Company
&M -3/
Note 2008 2007 2008 2007
B=E 2008 20074F 20084 20074
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TH#T FHET THT FAT
Cash and bank balances Re LIBITEER 1,523,927 820,377 19,968 2,815
Time deposits TEHFR 25,759 579,663 - 430,179
1,549,686 1,400,040 19,968 432,994
B SRR HRIRTTE K
Less: Time deposits pledged % 2 7E B
for short term bank loans T 30 (3,002) (3,477) - -
Cash and cash equivalents ReLIRESEEY 1,546,684 1,396,563 19,968 432,994
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28.

29.

176

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
PLEDGED DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)

At the balance sheet date, the cash and cash equivalents and pledged
deposits of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted
to HK$1,449,719,000 (2007: HK$719,406,000). The RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies, however, under Mainland
China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods
between one day and three months depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective
short term time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged
deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history
of default.

ACCOUNTS AND BILLS PAYABLE

An aged analysis of the accounts and bills payable as at the balance
sheet date, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

RekReFEY LS EFA
FR(E)

REER  AEBUARKABZIRSMN
&S EYARBEERITRA1,449,719,000
770 (2007 © 719,406,000/87T) » AREE
T ERABRARMEY - AW - RIFFH
SNEE SRR R AEE - HERESEEER
T REEEEBBEIETINEES 2R
T AR I RINE -

FRRIRTZIRE HiREG ARITERM KRG
H2FBNERDA L - BT AREEEE 2
BEFRME - SHERER LR -—AE=
BANE 2 FEFN > WIREEHAERFR
MERFREAE - RITEHRREERFREA
BRI ER NS 2 (FERF 2T -

TR AR R R R
R B 2 AR R TR IR R R A 2 0
WA :

Group

M
2008 2007
20084 20074
HK$°000 HK$'000
TFHET FHET

Outstanding balances with ages: NEBGEHRZRIRIMT -

Within 3 months =@EAR 827,482 708,303
3 to 12 months =EAZE+T=EAN 25,540 98,024
1 to 2 years —FEMFR 7,224 7,744
Over 2 years B AR 605 1,244
860,851 815,315

Accounts and bills payable are non-interest-bearing and are normally
settled on one to three months, and one to six months, respectively.
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 30. BHBIRITERNHEMER
BORROWINGS
Group x5EH
2008 2007
2008 2007
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$'000 rate (%) Maturity HK$'000
ERFIE%) ##A FHT BIRFE %) s FAT
Current e
Bank loans - secured BITEF-HHE 4,54 - 551 2009 10,964 3.00- 6.48 2008 16,019
Bank loans - unsecured RITET—mEA 6.48 2009 90,714 5.00- 6.50 2008 123,704
Other loans - unsecured HiE s — migm 5.04 - 6.57 2009 146,277 5.02- 5.83 2008 145,237
247,955 284,960
Non-current ERE
Bank loans - unsecured RITER - BHER - 583- 648  2009-2013 106,792
247,955 391,752
Analysed into: ik
Bank loans repayable: R THISREEE
ZHRTER
—ERE
Within one year or on demand HRNEE 101,678 139,723
E-EERE
In the third to fifth years, inclusive BEERME - 106,792
101,678 246,515
Other loans repayable: FER T 5 HREE
ZHMER
—FRE|
Within one year or on demand HRNEE 146,277 145,237
247,955 391,752
CERAEMAT 20085EHs 111
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30.

178

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

(@) Certain of the Group’s bank loans are secured by:

(i) certain of the Group’s investment properties held
outside Hong Kong with a carrying value at the
balance sheet date of HK$65,767,000 (2007:
HK$58,000,000) (note 17);

(i) certain of the Group’s property, plant and
equipment with a net book value of approximately
HK$19,623,000 (2007: HK$45,680,000) (note 16);
and

(ii) the pledge of certain of the Group’s time deposits
amounting to HK$3,002,000 (2007: HK$3,477,000)
(note 28).

(b) For the year ended 31 December 2008, except for certain

bank loans of HK$5,294,000 denominated in Pounds Sterling,

all other borrowings are denominated in RMB. For the year
ended 31 December 2007, except for certain bank loans
of HK$2,068,000 which are denominated in United States
dollars, all other borrowings are denominated in RMB.

In addition, the Company’s ultimate holding company had guaranteed

certain of the Group’s bank loans amounting to HK$65,143,000 as at
31 December 2007.

The other loans represent loans totalling HK$146,277,000 (2007:
HK$145,237,000) from a financial institution in the COFCO group.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank and other borrowings
approximate to their fair values at the balance sheet date.

On 10 December 2008, the Group obtained a non-secured banking
facility of HK$500,000,000 to strengthen the general working capital
of the Group. The banking facility had not been utilised at the balance
sheet date.
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30. MERRITERREMER
(#8)
(a) AREBZERTERTATYEAE
A

[0} WAEELEERRAEE
65,767,000 7T (2007 F :
58,000,000/8 7T ) 2 & &
INE B2 E TIREAEDE
(Mi5E17)

(i) PAR & B bR EOF E A
19,623,000 7T (2007 4
45,680,000/8 L) 2 & T4
X BER&E(HEES)
&

(iii AEBEZzETERFERZIE
# /& 3,002,000 7 7T ( 2007
F 1 3,477,0007 70 ) (M5
28) °

(b) HZE2008F12A31HILFE @ BE
F 48 77 B 705,294,000 7 JT WA I &8
FTESN - FTEHMEBERAARER
B o HE2007HF12 A3 A ILEE -
B T ER17E 502,068,000/ T A E
TLETESN - FTEEMERAARE
FTE °

A - R2007 12 431 HA R Al 2 SR
BRARERASRBRITERIELERBH
65,143,000 7T ©

HERTFRBEEMET —HHBEHEZE
7X146,277,0007% 7t (2007 4 : 145,237,000
I ©
AEBMZRITREMERZ FEERLNG
BHZAFERE -

2008512 4108 « AEBEER —ITEEIK IR
#8172 B500,000,0007 7T + LA inag A &
2 REBEES  cNEER  ZEBRITEE
EARENA ©



31.

DEFERRED TAX

31.

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year

are as follows:

EXETR IR

AERERNBEEHARBREEZEFHMT

Deferred tax liabilities BIERARS
Group REE
Accelerated
tax Deferred
depreciation income Others Total
MERFHRE SEFEUT A Hit et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAT FAT FAT
At 1 January 2007 #2007F1 A1R8 14,368 (715) 15,729 29,382
Deferred tax charged to the
income statement RAFEWATRR AR
during the year (note 11) ZIEERIE (PEE11) - - 6,970 6,970
Spin-off of CAIH (note 37) DIFH R R (MiFEs7) (14,563) 725 (16,570) (30,408)
Exchange realignment B 5, 5= 195 (10) 600 785
At 31 December 2007 and 72007124318
at 1 January 2008 K 420081 A1H - - 6,729 6,729
Deferred tax charged to the
income statement RAFE A TRE AR
during the year (note 11) ZIEIERITE (FEE11) - - 326 326
Exchange realignment [ i, A% - - 426 426
At 31 December 2008 20085124318 - - 7,481 7,481
rEASEMAE co0sEsns 179
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31. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 31. RIEFIE(E)
Deferred tax assets BERREE
Group REME
Unrealised
loss on
derivative
Impairment financial
Provision of instruments
against receivables FEIH
inventories Bk fEem Others Total
FHIBE AR (B TRER Hth &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FHET FAT FAT FAT
At 1 January 2007 20071 A1H 383 4,844 - 10,338 15,565
Deferred tax credited/(charged) RARFEZWRAREANAS
to the income statement during (0B ZEIEF 1B
the year (note 11) (BFEE11) 22 (113) 10,054 20,857 30,820
Spin-off of CAH (note 37) S ¥freR ElRE b AR (1 5E37) - (92) (10,090) (12,230) (22,412)
Exchange realignment [ 5,35 29 344 36 1,053 1,462
At 31 December 2007 and #2007 12A31H
at 1 January 2008 Ke2008F1 A1H 434 4,983 - 20,018 25,435
Deferred tax credited to the income ~ RAREFUAIRER A A
statement during the year (note 11)  ZIEEFIE(F7E11) 188 2,292 - 1,747 4,227
Exchange realignment b R 33 379 - 1,291 1,703
At 31 December 2008 20085 12A31H 655 7,654 - 23,056 31,365

The Group has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
HK$253,893,000 (2007: HK$83,772,000) that are available for
offsetting against future taxable profits to a maximum period of five
years of the companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets
have not been recognised in respect of these losses as they have
arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time and it
is not considered probable that taxable profits will be available against
which the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the new corporate income tax law in the PRC, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors
by foreign investment enterprises established in mainland China

(the “FIES”). The requirement became effective on 1 January 2008
and applies to earnings generated by the FIEs from 1 January 2008
onwards (the “FIE Earnings since 2008”). A lower withholding tax
rate of 5% is applied if there is a tax treaty between the PRC and the
jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
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31.

32.

DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 31. BRIEFIE(E)
Deferred tax assets (continued) BIERIFEE(])
At 31 December 2008, no deferred tax was recognised by the Group R2008F 12 A31H » AEBEW R ASAEE
for withholding taxes that would be accrued for the FIE Earnings since ATEFEAMBRINNERRBINERE
2008 by the Group’s certain subsidiaries established in the mainland 20084 K LAE B FITENRL (40 F ) MR IR T Y
China, if any. In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that H - BERE  ZEMNBAREAIRERS
such subsidiaries will distribute the FIE Earnings since 2008 in the Ik HNE 1 3 2008 F f2 LA 12 2 F #) 7] E M T
foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences X - 2008512 A31 8 @ RIEZSHEDL
associated with the FIE Earnings since 2008 for which deferred ¥MEABES%H10%TE - HiEARER
tax liabilities have not been recognised amounted to approximately ZINE D FE2008F N LA R B FIFTHERS IR R
HK$31,575,000 at 31 December 2008 (2007: Nil) based on the tax THBERRRNZERBTELA31,575,00087T
rates of 5% or 10% applicable to such subsidiaries. (20074 : £&) ©
There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of KRR BAREIRE R S NESERFTER
dividends by the Company to its shareholders. pd (NI
SHARE CAPITAL 32. A
Shares B in
2008 2007
20084 20074
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FA&T
Authorised: VETE ¢
4,000,000,000 ordinary shares EREE010B T LB
of HK$0.10 each 4,000,000,0008% 400,000 400,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRAE
2,791,383,356 ordinary shares FRREEO. 10/ T2 TR
of HK$0.10 each 2,791,383,356H% 279,138 279,138

There were no movements in the Company’s share capital during the
years ended 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2007 .

Share options

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share options
issued under the scheme are included in note 33 to the financial
statements.

# 220084 12 431 F 22007 12 A31 A 1L
G ARRZBAL MBS -

iRk
AR RERAERT 8 R DR B BB ITHER
RERHIEH N M 5 M EMIFESS
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33.

182

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 21 November 2006,
the Company conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”). The Scheme became effective on 21 November 2006
(the “Effective Date”) and unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will
remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible participants of the Scheme include the Company’s
directors (other than independent non-executive directors) and other
employees of the Group.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent,
upon their exercise, to 10% of the issued shares of the Company
at the date of the adoption of the Scheme. The maximum number
of shares issuable under share options granted to each eligible
participant pursuant to the Scheme within any 12-month period is
limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time.
Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject
to approval in advance by independent non-executive directors. In
addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder of the
Company, or to any of its associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate value
(based on the price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in
excess of HK$5,000,000, within any 12-month period, are subject to
shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days
from the date of offer. The exercise periods of the share options
granted commence after applicable vesting periods and in any event
end on a date which is not later than seven years from the date of
acceptance of the share options, subject to early termination thereof as
provided in the Schemes.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors,
but may not be less than the higher of (i) the Stock Exchange closing
price of the Company’s shares on the date of offer of the share
options; and (i) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the
Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the
date of offer; or (jii) the nominal value of a share.
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33.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (CONTINUED) 33.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

On 27 September 2007, a total of 20,619,000 share options were
granted to certain directors and employees of the Group in respect
of their services to the Group in the forthcoming year. These share
options shall be vested during the period from 27 September 2007
to 26 September 2011 with an exercise price of HK$4.952 per share
and an exercise period from 27 September 2009 to 26 September
2014. The price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant was
HK$4.95 per share.

The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme
during the year:

BRI ()
PR S8 T 15 AR BRI B S
EARBRZ R -

o

M2007F9A27H  ARRIHAEREETE
EREERRFMAEERHRBEMTELE
$#20,619,00017 BEARIE © 5% 5 RE AR #E 5 2007
FQRA227TAE2011F9A26HEE © 1T1E(E
ARE4.9527%8 T + 11{E HAFR20094F9 A 27 H
£2014F9H26H - REL ABAARAFRE
BERA4.95%8TT °

NAFER - RIFZLATE T 5 BERERET
o

2008 2007
2008F 20074
Weighted Weighted

average Number average Number

exercise price of options  exercise price of options

HKS$ per share 000 HK$ per share ’000

mEFYTER MREHE niETHTRE 2

BT B T B/ F3

At 1 January M AR 4.952 20,478 - -
Granted during the year FRRH - - 4.952 20,619
Cancelled during the year ERTH 4.952 (1,770) 4.952 (141)
At 31 December MW12A31H 4.952 18,708 4,952 20,478
The vesting periods, exercise prices and exercise periods of the share 72008412 A 31 A ARMEI T RS AR 1E 2 57 )8 BR

options outstanding as at 31 December 2008 are as follows:

-~ TR ERITELBREMAT

Number of options granted to

BFHERERE Exercise
Directors Employees Total Vesting period price per share Exercise period
= = &%t RENRE S|ER{THEE TERAR
‘000 ’000 '000 HK$
Tt T Tt BT
1,820 4,416 6,236 27-9-2007 - 26-9-2009 4.952 27-9-2009 - 26-9-2014
1,820 4,416 6,236 27-9-2007 - 26-9-2010 4.952 27-9-2010 - 26-9-2014
1,820 4,416 6,236 27-9-2007 - 26-9-2011 4.952 27-9-2011 - 26-9-2014
5,460 13,248 18,708
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33.

184

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (CONTINUED) 33.

The fair value of the share options of the Scheme granted during
the year ended 31 December 2007 was HK$32,227,000 (HK$1.563
each) of which the Company recognised a share option expense of
HK$10,135,000 during the year ended 31 December 2008 (2007:
HK$3,060,000).

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted in 2007 was

estimated as at the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes-Merton
option pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions
upon which the options were granted. The following table lists the

inputs to the model used:

Dividend yield (%) 0.8
Expected volatility (%) 30.57
Historical volatility (%) 30.57
Risk-free interest rate (%) 4.102

Expected life of options (year) 5
Weighted average share price (HKS) 4.952

The expected life of the options is determined with reference to the
vesting term and original contractual term of the Scheme and is not
necessarily indicative of the exercise patterns that may occur. The
expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility
is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the
actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the
measurement of fair value.

As at 31 December 2008, the Company had 18,708,000 (2007:
20,478,000) share options outstanding under the Scheme.

The option outstanding at 31 December 2008 had a remaining
contractual life of 5.74 years (2007: 6.74 years). The exercise in full

of the outstanding share options would, under the present capital
structure of the Company, result in the issue of 18,708,000 (2007:
20,478,000) additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional
share capital of approximately HK$1,871,000 (2007: approximately
HK$2,048,000) and share premium of approximately HK$90,771,000
(2007: approximately HK$99,359,000) (before share issuance
expenses).

At the date of the approval of these financial statements, the shares
issuable from the above outstanding share options represented
approximately 0.67% (2007: 0.73%) of the Company’s shares in issue
as at that date.
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34. RESERVES 34.

(a)

The Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for Sino-foreign
joint venture enterprises, a portion of the profits of certain of
the Company’s subsidiaries and associates in Mainland China
has been transferred to reserve funds which are restricted as
to use.

The Group’s capital reserve includes the contributed surplus
which represents:

(i) the excess value of the shares acquired over the
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in
exchange therefor under the group reorganisation in
1991, less the goodwill arising on the acquisition of
subsidiaries and associates which remains eliminated
against the capital reserve, as explained in note 19 to
the financial statements; and

(i) the excess value of the shares acquired over the
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in
exchange therefor under the Reorganisation, as
explained in note 1 to the financial statements.

[
(a)
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34, RESERVES (CONTINUED) 34. f#iE(E)
The Company (b) FAT
Employee

186

share-based

Share compensation

premium reserve
account &K% Contributed  Proposed  Retained
i3 EEEM surplus dividend profit Total
BRI B  BARE RERE  GREEV ait
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ik Th TAT TAT Th TATL TAT
At 1 January 2007 200741 A1A 3,660,432 - 5028810 - 42179 9,111,038
Equity-settled share option
arrangements RALERRERH 7 - 3,060 - - - 3,060
Profit for the year KERRF - - - - 1866157 1,866,157
Final 2007 dividend proposed ~ #1R2007 £ R ERIR & 14 - - - 125612 (125,612) -
Special interim dividends ERIR SRS - - (3,517,400) - (2131,783) (5,649,133)
At 31 December 2007 and #2007412A31A
1 January 2008 200851718 3,600,432 3060* 1511410* 125612 30,608* 5,331,122
Equity-settled share option
arrangements RAEERRELT 7 - 10,135 - - - 10,135
Profit for the year AEEER - - - - 606,179 606,179
Cancellation of share premium 37 &E (3,660,432) - 3660432 - - -
Final 2007 dvidend paid BIR2007FRER S 14 - - - (125612) - (125612)
2008 interim dividend paid BIR2008EH R 2 14 - - - - (66,993) (66,993)
Final 2008 dividend proposed ~ #¥/E20085 A& S, 14 - - (107,189) 107,189 - -
At 31 December 2008 720085124318 =" 13,195 5,004,663 107,189 569,794 5,754,831
* These reserve accounts comprise the reserves of * GEEEERERANTRER
HK$5,647,642,000 in the Company’s balance sheet (2007: & P Y 4 185,647,642,00078 7T
HK$5,205,510,000). (20074 : 5,205,510,000% 7T ) °
The contributed surplus of the Company represents: NI N 3=

(i) the difference between the underlying net assets of

subsidiaries and the nominal value of the Company’s

shares issued in exchange therefor under a group
reorganisation in 1991; and

(i) the difference between the consideration payable in
respect of the Acquisition and the nominal value of the

Company'’s shares issued in exchange therefor under

the Reorganisation.
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34. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(b)

The Company (continued)

On 15 April 2008, the board of directors passed a resolution
in relation to a share premium cancellation pursuant to section
46 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, which was
approved by shareholders on a special resolution on 19 May
2008, and was later approved by the registrar of companies
of Bermuda on 3 June 2008. Accordingly, the share premium
account of approximately HK$3,660,432,000 was transferred
to contributed surplus during the year.

The employee share-based compensation reserve comprises
the fair value of share options granted which are yet to be
exercised, as further explained in the accounting policy for
share-based payment transactions in note 3.3 to the financial
statements. The amount will either be transferred to the share
premium account when the related options are exercised, or
be transferred to retained profits should the related options
expire or be cancelled.

In addition to the retained profits of the Company, under

the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the contributed

surplus of the Company is also available for distribution to its
shareholders. However, the Company cannot declare or pay a
dividend, or make a distribution out of its contributed surplus,
if:

() the Company is, or would after the payment be,
unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(b) the realisable value of the Company’s assets would
thereby be less than the aggregated realisable value
of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share
premium account.

34.

ek (E)

(b)
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EAF ()

MN2008%E4A15H EE @B —
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REERD R 2008F5 A19B E B
RIRFBRFNERRIE - WEE
200846 A3HE AR E AN A
BBLAE - Bt - FRRGAEBERL
3,660,432,000/ 8 LEEREH AR
ﬁ%o
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BEARMEERE - XHEBB
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35.

188

BUSINESS COMBINATION 35, EHAH

Business combination in 2007
On 6 August 2007, COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited (“CBL”),
a 65%-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a conditional

sh

Limited (“CCCI”), a connected person of the Company, pursuant to
which:

(i)

(iii)

are transfer master agreement with Coca-Cola China Industries

CBL will transfer to CCClI all the issued share capital in, and (0}
all the outstanding shareholder’s loans owed by, COFCO

Beverages (Chengdu) Limited, COFCO Beverages (Harbin)

Limited, COFCO Beverages (Kunming) Limited, COFCO

Beverages (Taiyuan) Limited, COFCO Beverages (Wuhan)

Limited, and COFCO Beverages (Jilin) Limited (collectively

the “CBL Companies”), all being wholly-owned subsidiaries

of CBL, for an aggregate consideration of RMB571,000,000
(approximately HK$591,710,000) (the “Disposal”);

CCCl will transfer to CBL all the issued share capital in, and (ii)
all the outstanding shareholder’s loans owed by, Coca-

Cola China Industries Beverages (Qingdao) Ltd. (“CCCI

Qingdao”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of CCCI, for an

aggregate consideration of RMB521,000,000 (approximately
HK$539,910,000) (the “Acquisition”); and

CBL will acquire from CCCI all the issued share capital in, and (iii)
all the outstanding shareholder’s loans owed by, Coca-Cola

China Industries (Beijing) Limited (“CCCI Beijing”), a wholly-

owned subsidiary of CCCl, for an aggregate consideration of
RMB270,000,000.
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35.

BUSINESS COMBINATION (CONTINUED) 35.

Business combination in 2007 (continued)

The consideration for the Disposal was settled by the Acquisition plus
RMB50,000,000 (approximately HK$51,800,000) paid by CCCl in
cash at completion on 26 October 2007.

The CBL Companies, CCCI Qingdao and CCCI Beijing are all
investment holding companies with equity interests in subsidiaries or
long-term investments engaged in the production, bottling, sale and
distribution of Coca-Cola beverages in certain areas of the PRC.

Details of the above transactions were disclosed by the Company
in an announcement dated 6 August 2007 and a circular dated 27
August 2007.

E%a0(E)
20075 (B SO (E)

CCCI &K A - B120074108 268
LA Us B hn E 38 £ A R 50,000,000 7T (49
51,800,000/8 7T) X & 2 (KB ©

FIEEREL + CCCl Qingdao K& CCCI Beiing 19
BIREERAR - FEHRENPRHE THE
WEAE - 2R HERDIHEA O ATEER
ZHB AR R E s -

Bt 5 2 #E R AR R B H /82007458

A6BHZAERHEIAR2007F8 A27H 2@
B o
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35.

190

BUSINESS COMBINATION (CONTINUED) 35. HXBaft(&)
Business combination in 2007 (continued) 2007 RSO (1)
A summary of the fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of RUEE 2 B - CCCl QingdaoZ Al # Bl & E &
CCCI Qingdao as at the date of the Acquisition and the corresponding BEZATEREZEWESENRE S EE
carrying amounts immediately before the Acquisition was as follows: EMENT
Fair value
recognised on
acquisition Carrying
U P B R A2 amount
ZOFE IREE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FAT FAT
Property, plant and equipment (note 16) W - BB &R (FEE16) 376,988 326,004
Prepaid land premiums (note 18) 7Bt L (HiFE18) 11,058 11,088
Inventories FE 92,714 92,714
Accounts and bills receivable U BR R N ZE 33,189 33,189
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FERFRIE - 11e N H b el RoE 31,995 31,995
Cash and bank balances e MIBTTHES 52,589 52,589
Accounts and bills payable FERRF R ER (194,267) (194,267)
Other payables and accruals HAbERRIERES B & (113,448) (113,448)
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings [ ERITERREMER (34,707) (34,707)
Minority interests DEIR R (113,636) (93,233)
142,475 111,894
Reclassification of available-for-sale investments  E#5 fEa] it H &R E (16,579)
Goodwill on acquisition (note 19) g EA 2 B (M3E19) 414,014
539,910
Satisfied by: LATRB AT
Consideration payable (note 36) FERHR (B (KI5E36) 591,710
Cash received (note 36) ETURER & (M15E36) (51,800)
539,910
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect HWEEE SRR SEEEEREAFE
of the Acquisition is as follows: DT -
HK$'000
FET
Cash and bank balances acquired and TN EB AT ZEWEIRS &
net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in SRITHEBUNIRE N
respect of the acquisition of subsidiaries ReEEBERNFE 52,589
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36.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 26 October 2007, the Group disposed of certain subsidiaries as
part of the consideration for a business combination.

36. HEMBARF

AEREBAHREZED -

HR2007F10H26H - AEFHES

FHER

An analysis of the assets and liabilities of the disposal is as follows: ZERECEERBEINNT
HK$’000
FAT
Net assets disposed of: etz EEFE
Property, plant and equipment (note 16) YIE - BE KRR (FisE16) 93,771
Prepaid land premiums (note 18) faf e (F3E18) 4,638
Available-for-sale investments and related loans AHHERERBEBER 154,681
Accounts receivable FEURBRZX 5,727
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERFIE - e REAERGRIE 44,047
Due from fellow subsidiaries B ES NI ENGIE ¢ 8,074
Cash and bank balances B e RIRITA R 12,215
Accounts payable FERTERRR (26,766)
Other payables and accruals Hth FE S R R BT RO (27,703)
Due to fellow subsidiaries R B RMT B A TIFRIE (71,858)
196,826
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 6) HEE QA E U (H5E6) 394,884
591,710
Satisfied by: FEBLATER
Cash (note 35) & (KHI35) 51,800
Consideration receivable (note 35) FEULAAE (FTFES35) 539,910
591,710

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect

HEEMBRARZRE KRR FERNFRE

of the disposal of subsidiaries is as follows: DT
2007
20074
HK$’'000
FAT
Cash consideration HERE 51,800
Cash and bank balances disposed of T & 2R MIRTTEH (12,215)
Cash and bank balances disposed of and FrHECIRS RIBTESAREBE
net inflow of cash and cash equivalents WEARBEzZEeMReEE
in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries mMAERE 39,585
rERSEMAE omszms 191
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37. SPIN-OFF OF CAIH 37. DIFFEIEHIER

Pursuant to the Reorganisation as set out in note 1 to the financial BIEGTBREMT1IME2ESR - AARR
statements, the Company spun off the Spin-off Group by way of AR R TR DI RIF R E S TFH I
a special interim dividend where the Company’s interest in CAIH, £B - MARFRFBIE BIERES 2w
representing the entire issued share capital of CAIH, was distributed HERE2BEBITRAEDIRTAREZ
to the shareholders of the Company. Further details of the Spin-off R o DifFzi#E— SHBHNR T B REMH
are set out in note 1 to the financial statements. e
A summary of the assets and liabilities of the Spin-off Group AARASFEMA RS IFEB s EERAE
distributed by the Company as a result of the Spin-off is as follows: BEmT -

HK$’'000

FET
Net assets distributed: IR REERE :
Property plant and equipment (note 16) W - BB R (FEE16) 6,047,549
Prepaid land premiums (note 18) Taft e (FI5E18) 375,663
Deposits for purchase of items of property, plant BEVXE  WEIKXREER
and equipment 2R 15,692

Goodwill (note 19) AR (MiEE19) 574,268
Interests in associates NN W X 1,137,559
Avalilable-for-sale investments AHHERE 2,625
Deferred tax assets (note 31) RERTEE E (3E31) 22,412
Inventories & 4,161,112
Accounts and bills receivable A S 607,827
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERFIE - 7S REMEUERR 1,744,229
Due from fellow subsidiaries EEE = VNGIE e 334,757
Due from the ultimate holding company FE U B 4RI IR A Bl 5B 2,192
Tax recoverable AU E A 120
Derivative financial instruments fTEemI A (31,609)
Cash and bank balances Re RIRTTHES 1,291,561
Accounts and bills payable e AR R S 4% (984,840)
Other payables and accruals oA A B N e R T RE (1,098,999)
Due to fellow subsidiaries RERMBRRFRIEA (171,696)
Due to related companies U UNGI ] (575,400)
Due to the immediate holding company RE R AEFIE @)
Due to the ultimate holding company REFHRIEAC A T FUA (83)
Due to minority shareholders of subsidiaries RHTEB AR LSRR ZUR (114,878)
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings M BERITE R R EMER (5,767,829)
Deferred income BT A (59,449)
Tax payable FERI i1 (67,839)
Deferred tax liabilities (note 31) EEREE E(MEES1) (30,408)
Minority interests DER R R (1,180,386)
Special interim dividend (note 14) R BN B (B EE14) 6,234,148

192
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37.

38.

39.

SPIN-OFF OF CAIH (CONTINUED)

37.

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect

%)

Preh Bl m A ()

HAOEDFEE 2 R KBS FERLFRE

of the distribution of the Spin-off Group is as follows: DT
HK$'000
FA&T
Cash and bank balances distributed and Frnik2He RIBITERUR
net outflow of cash and cash equivalents MRS IFEE 2 Re KR SEEY
in respect of the distribution of the Spin-off Group Bz nt g5 (1,291,561)
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 38. WREFE
At the balance sheet date, neither the Group nor the Company had WEEHEB - AEERARREEAERNL
any significant contingent liabilities. RAfE o
OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 39. &KEMHAILHE
(a) Aslessor (@ FEHHBEA

The Group leases its investment properties (note 17) under
operating lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for
terms ranging from one to ten years. The terms of the leases
generally also require the tenants to pay security deposits and
provide for periodic rent adjustments according to the then

prevailing market conditions.

At 31 December 2008, the Group had total future minimum
lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases with

its tenants falling due as follows:

AEERBELEZHENLTHLEER
A (EE17) - B2 B8R
—ETEANEF - —RMEF - BHZ
BERMBERPINES - WA
AEHRETARERS -

MR2008F 128318 » AEEREE
BB 2 TR R A & HAOE
Wz RREERSBEERFRSN
m

Group
*EE
2008 2007
2008 20074
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHIT
Within one year —FR 7,621 4,514
In the second to fifth years, inclusive E_EERF(BEERMT) 3,260 3,497
10,881 8,011
rERSEMAE omszns 193
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39. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

(b) Aslessee

The Group leases certain of its office properties under
operating lease arrangements. Leases for properties are
negotiated for terms ranging from one to ten years.

At 31 December 2008, the Group had total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling

due as follows:

39. REMWLH(E)

(b) {EREBA
AEBERBEEEBORKARET
WoEWE - MEROEREE
HH—F=2+F1% -

M2008F 12 A31H » AEEBED
AR EORN 2 AR &EHE
SRBRFROON

Group

*5EE
2008 2007
20085 20074
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TET
Within one year 37,954 27,128
In the second to fifth years, inclusive E_EZFRF(BEEERF) 46,875 31,407
After five years 98,031 69,127
182,860 127,662

40. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note 39
above, the Group had the following capital commitments at the

balance sheet date:

40. BAEYE
B b S 5305 il 7 &R B R A FIESN - K
EBENEEBRBUTEARRIE :

Group
XEE
2008 2007
2008%F 20074
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FH&T
Capital commitments in respect of: FUATIERE 2B AEIE -
Property, plant and equipment: Y - RE KR
Contracted, but not provided for BETHBERETR 49,250 10,132
Acquisition of additional interest in U BE A — B 2 A B 2 BB AN
an associate: s
Contracted, but not provided for BRTHERETR 306,161 288,338
355,411 298,470
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47, CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

A

AERS

(@)  Apart from the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere (@) BEHBREEMETAEEZRS
in the financial statements, the Group had the following RESERIN - AREBRAFENEE
material transactions with related parties during the year: BATETZERARSWT :

Group
*EHE
2008 2007
20085 20074
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B T FAT
Transactions with fellow subsidiaries: HRERMEARZRS
Sales of goods* HEEM (i) 10,715 126,043
Purchases of goods* BEER (i) 3,621,284 2,582,770
Operating lease rentals paid* EgERNAS (i) 10,453 9,254
Interest expenses e H (i) 8,512 30,251
Commission paid RS (i) - 191
Transactions with the ultimate HFEIERARIZR S
holding company:
Sales of goods* HEE R (i) 6,298 -
Management fee paid* B EE S (i) - 755
Transactions with associates: HRENFIRS
Sales of goods HEE M (i) 3,646 23,679
Purchases of goods* BEEm (i) 716,603 396,018
Transactions with related companies:* HEENRIZRZS  #
Sales of goods HEE M (i) - 13,566
Purchases of goods * BEEm* (i) 2,392,745 3,079,746
* These related party transactions also constituted connected - ZEBEATZSIRE ETHRA
transactions disclosable in accordance with the Listing Rules. RE - TMBRATIREE 2 BER
% o
# Related companies are companies under significant influence # BERRRIAEEKEIERA
of the Group’s ultimate holding company. RIERFEZ AT -
rEREERAE 200srmEs 199
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47, CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY 41.

TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

(c)

196

(continued)
Notes:

(i) These transactions were carried out with reference to the
prevailing market prices or, where no market prices were
available, at cost plus a percentage of profit mark-up.

(ii) Interest expenses arose from the loans from COFCO Finance
Corporation Limited (“COFCO Finance”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of COFCO, which are unsecured, bear interest
at rates ranging from 5.04% to 6.57% (2007: 5.02% to
5.83%) per annum and of which HK$146,277,000 (2007:
HK$145,237,000) is repayable within one year.

Transaction with a related party

Pursuant to certain licensing agreements entered into between
the Group and a related party, the Group was granted the
exclusive rights to use certain trademarks for its edible oll,
soybean meal and related products businesses. The licensing
fees for the current year and the prior year were waived by the
related party.

Outstanding balances with related parties
Except for (1) the loans of HK$146,277,000 (2007:
HK$145,237,000) from COFCO Finance, the terms of
which are detailed in note 30 to the financial statements, (2)
the amounts due to minority shareholders of the Group’s
subsidiaries of HK$73,136,000 (2007: HK$75,047,000)
which are not repayable within one year from the balance
sheet date and bearing an interest prevailing at the market
rate, and (3) an amount due to the ultimate holding company
of HK$22,679,000 (2007: HK$21,358,000), which is not
repayable within one year from the balance sheet date,

the remaining balances with the holding companies, fellow
subsidiaries, related companies and minority shareholders
of the Group’s subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and
have no fixed terms of repayment.
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(b)

(c)
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47, CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY 41.

TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(d)

(e)

AT 5(8)

Compensation of key management personnel (d FEREETEEEBABZHM
of the Group
Group
X&EE
2008 2007
20084 20074
HK$°000 HK$’000
T FHET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind =~ %< - JZEE R BY I 8,622 6,635
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 3,270 3,094
Equity-settled share option expense AR AR 4 ERE AR R S 4,605 916
Pension scheme contributions RIREHEI R 329 183
Total compensation paid to key MFFTEEEEBAS
management personnel Z R 4azE 16,826 10,828
Transactions with other state-owned () HHEHMBBELEZXS

enterprises

The Group operates in an economic environment
predominated by enterprises directly or indirectly owned or
controlled by the PRC government through its numerous
authorities, affiliates or other organisations (collectively
“State-owned Enterprises”). During the year, the Group had
transactions with State-owned Enterprises including, but not
limited to, sales and purchases of processed foodstuffs and
raw materials. The directors consider that transactions with
other State-owned Enterprises are activities in the ordinary
course of the business, and that dealings of the Group have
not been significantly or underlying affected by the fact that
the Group and those State-owned Enterprises are ultimately
controlled or owned by the PRC government. The Group has
also established pricing policies for products and services,
and such policies do not depend on whether or not the
customers are State-owned Enterprises. Having due regard
to the substance of the relationships, the directors of the
Company are of the opinion that none of these transactions
is a material related party transaction that require separate
disclosure.

FEKKARAT 2008FEHE

ARER B — {E b P B B B 3 ]
BEBES MK  BEBARRHE
B EA REHI R (SRR =
BREDRBENEBERRPEE -
FA AEEEBALEETLIR
SHERETRNEERRBEZENT
RmREME - EERS - HBEHAM
BECEETZIRZUBNAREE
BRBETZEY  AREZRS
TEAAEERZEREEERK
AP BB S B A T S BB K
KRR E -  ARETHEARE
X RS 2 EEBE - Mz FHER
CERTEPELEEAREMS
EoRBEERZEHEZEL
ARPEERR  ZEXHALTE
NEZEBREZERBEALR
5 e

197



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

S EmEMTE(E)
31 December 2008
2008%12H31H

42, PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 42. FEWBRAIZEFE
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December KRR FEME R R B E2008F12A31H 2
2008 are as follows: FIEWT
Places of Percentage
incorporation/ Nominal value of equity
registration of ordinary issued/ attributable to
and operation registered capital the Company
Name HMEI M ERTEEREE AOTFIESE Principal activities
i3 RiEEm HMEE BEEHSL TEEE
2008 2007
China Great Wall Wine Co., Ltd.* the PRC/ RMB180,000,000 100 100 Production and sale of
PEERBEEAR AR mainland China A R%180,000,0007T wine and beverage
R R E R products
SERHERER
REREHE m
Yantai Greatwall Wines and the PRC/ RMB1,000,000 100 100  Wholesale of grape wines
Spirits Co., Ltd.* mainland China AE#1,000,0007T HEEEE
BEARMBEEHEFR AR LB
Qinhuangdao Huaxia Greatwall the PRC/ RMB1,000,000 100 100 Wholesale of grape wines
Wines and Spirits Co., Ltd. mainland China AEH1,000,0007T WEEEE
REBEERWMBEERLT HEL B
COFCO Greatwall Winery (Yantai) the PRC/ RMB108,000,000 100 100 Production and sale of
Co., Ltd.* mainland China AR #108,000,0007T grape wines
FRERREESE(ES)ERAR FE PR SERHEREN
COFCO Huaxia Great Wall the PRC/ RMB200,000,000 100 100 Production and sale of
Wine Co., Ltd.* mainland China A R#200,000,0007T grape wines
HIEZEERREEBEER AR HEL R ERM SERHEEER
COFCO Huaxiahong Wines & the PRC/ RMB3,000,000 80 80  Wholesale of grape wines
Spirits (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.** mainland China AEH3,000,0007T WEEEE
B AR E ORI AR A HEL B
COFCO Junding Vineyard Co., Ltd.** the PRC/ RMB140,000,000 55 55 Production and sale of
FiRETRETAR AR mainland China ~ AR#140,000,0007C grape wines
FE PR SERHEREN
COFCO & Arrive Vine Plant the PRC/ EUR353,100 58.38 58.38 Plantation of vine and
(Yantai) R&D Co., Ltd.* mainland China 353,100 7T production of related
FrRERMEEEEEAR(ER) LB products
MEBRAR" ERaEREEERESR
1 98 China Foods Limited Annual Report 2008



42.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 42, FEWBRRIZFHE(E)
(CONTINUED)
Places of Percentage
incorporation/ Nominal value of equity
registration of ordinary issued/ attributable to
and operation registered capital the Company
Name R BRITHEREE " FATIMEE Principal activities
i34 RiGEmE HMEF BFEEAL TEERE
2008 2007
COFCO Wines and Spirits Co., Ltd.* the PRC/ RMB11,760,000 100 100  Wholesale of grape wines
FRREEERAAN mainland China AEH11,760,0007T HEBHED
FEL R E R
COFCO Food Penglai Co., Ltd. the PRC/ RMB1,000,000 100 - Wholesale of grape wines
FREEMERFRAF mainland China AR#1,000,00078 HEHED
R E A,

Shandong COFCO Junding World the PRC/ RMB10,000,000 55 - Wholesale of grape wines
Famous Chateaus Club Co., Ltd. mainland China AE#10,000,0007T HEFEH
IWERFRETEHREH B R E A
BEHFR AT

Zhangjiakou Jin Guan Wines the PRC/ RMB1,000,000 100 - Wines processing and
Co., Ltd. mainland China AE#1,000,0007T bottling, sale and

KROALBEEBERAT HERERM distribution of wine products

EEMNT - B HE
R HBEEmR

COFCO Shaoxing Winery the PRC/ RMB68,670,000 100 100 Production and sale of
Co., Ltd.* mainland China AR#68,670,0007T Chinese yellow rice wines

HIEREBER QR FEL R E R HEEREETRERE

Shenzhen Le Conte Marketing the PRC/ RMB15,000,000 90 90 Distribution of chocolate
Services Co., Ltd.™* mainland China AR#15,000,0007T products

AmewaEaRAT FE R ERM, DEORNER

COFCO Le Conte Food the PRC/ US$15,000,000 100 100 Production and distribution
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* mainland China 15,000,000% 7T of chocolate products

HESHRMOAINER AR FE R ERM BER AR NER

COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Hong Kong Ordinary 65 65 Investment holding
Limited 5 HK$2,463,217,002 REEK

HIE R QA SRR A IR A7) LR

2,463,217,002/87C
pERRERAE 200srmEs 199
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42.
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PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 42. FENBRAIZFFE(E)
(CONTINUED)
Places of Percentage
incorporation/ Nominal value of equity
registration of ordinary issued/ attributable to
and operation registered capital the Company
Name HMEI M ERTEEREE AOTFIESE Principal activities
3] RigEmEs iEmEx BFEESL FEXRY
2008 2007
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages the PRC/ US$30,000,000 65 65 Investment holding
(China) Investment Limited* mainland China 30,000,0003 7T REER
FE Rl O AT (R B IR E L B
BRAT
Tianjin Coca-Cola Beverages the PRC/ US$15,500,000 32.5 325 Beverages processing
Co., Ltd** mainland China 15,500,000 7T SR T
KR AR EERRRL R IR A R B, E A
Hainan COFCO Coca-Cola the PRC/ USs$11,700,000 65 65 Beverages processing
Beverages Limited* mainland China 11,700,000% 7T EHINT
BETRER AR ERAR] L B
Hunan COFCO Coca-Cola the PRC/ US$8,000,000 65 65 Beverages processing
Beverage Co.,Ltd.* mainland China 8,000,000% 7T BB T
R R DA AR AR AR I E A
Zhanjiang COFCO Coca-Cola the PRC/ RMB23,000,000 65 65 Beverages processing
Beverages Limited* mainland China AR #23,000,0007T SREHINT
T ER O AT B R AR L B
Gansu COFCO Coca-Cola the PRC/ US$5,000,000 65 65 Beverages processing
Beverages Co., Ltd* mainland China 5,000,000% ¢ SREHINT
HERER ARS8 AR AR L B
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages the PRC/ RMB40,000,000 52 52 Beverages processing
(Xinjiang) Limited** mainland China AR #40,000,0007T SREHINT
PIER ORI K GIB)BRAR™  FE/HEA
COFCO Coca-Cola Commerce & the PRC/ RMB3,000,000 52 52 Sale of beverage products
Trade (Xinjiang) Limited** mainland China AFR#3,000,0007T SHERKER
FIER ORI LHE G BRART  FE HEAD
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages the PRC/ RMB40,000,000 65 65 Beverages processing
(Jiangxi) Limited* mainland China AR #40,000,0007T SREHINT
PRER ORI OIR)BRAR  FE/HEAD
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42.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 42, FEWBRRIZFHE(E)
(CONTINUED)
Places of Percentage
incorporation/ Nominal value of equity
registration of ordinary issued/ attributable to
and operation registered capital the Company
Name MR M ERTEEEREE AOTFIESE Principal activities
i34 RiGEmE HMEF BFEEAL TEERE
2008 2007
Qingdao Coca-Cola Beverage the PRC/ US$12,500,000 48.75 48.75 Beverages processing
Co., Ltd.** mainland China 12,500,000% ¢ BB T
SRR AMERHERDE HE R E A
Jinan Coca-Cola Beverage the PRC/ US$5,000,000 48.75 48.75 Beverages processing
Co., Ltd.** mainland China 5,000,000 7T FEHINT
R A A AR B R A B B R E A
COFCO Foods Sales and the PRC/ RMB100,000,000 100 100 Distribution of retail
Distribution Co., Ltd.* mainland China AR #100,000,0007T package cooking oil
FRERMEHEARAR HE R E D NEER R
COFCO Foods Management the PRC/ US$10,000,000 100 100 Research and development
Co., Ltd* mainland China 10,000,000% 7T in food, wines and
HERMEEARAT R E R i beverages, management
and consulting services
MARFER®  BRKE -
B REARS
* Wholly-foreign-owned enterprises - ITBERE
- Sino-foreign equity joint ventures = FINE AR

All of the above principal subsidiaries are indirectly held by the

Company.

The statutory audits of the above subsidiaries were not performed by
Emnst & Young Hong Kong or other member firm of the Ernst & Young

global network.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

AEPRAEEEMB QT HARRRERS

o

LK E AR IR BB L KGRI ETEPT
HLOK BB EMKE A RETATE

% o

ERBIANEZERREAFEREBKE
TEIBRAREEEFEZIRHOZ

/NGl NG|

cEBEFRA - BMIEMM

BRARZFBCEBRILE -
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

S EmEMTE(E)
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2008%12H31H

43, PARTICULARS OF ASSOCIATES 43. BEERAIZFHE
Particulars of the Group’s associates as at 31 December 2008 are as A RIEE A TIR2008F 12 H31 B 2 #1540
follows: T:
Percentage
of ownership
Nominal value Place of interest
of ordinary issued/ incorporation/ attributable
registered capital registration to the Group
Name ERTYEREE F:3 5 A v AEEES Principal activities
3 EmEx kRS HEREREAL FTEEXY
2008 2007
Nanjing BC Foods Company Ltd. US$19,000,000 the PRC 13 13 Beverages processing
ARPERMARAA 19,000,000% 7T B EREHINT
Hangzhou BC Foods Co., Ltd. US$20,000,000 the PRC 13 13 Beverages processing
MNP ZERmABRAR 20,000,000%7T F BRI
Beijing Coca-Cola Beverages US$19,500,000 the PRC 22.8 22.8 Beverages processing
Co., Ltd. 19,500,000% 7T T SR
LRI AR EBREL AR A A
CBPC Limited Ordinary Hong Kong 16.3 16.3 Procurement of raw
HK$10,000 &5 materials for Coca-Cola
TR bottlers in mainland China
10,000/ 7T FEFR B A AR O R] 44
SRR [R R
Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufacturing Ordinary Hong Kong 13.7 - Investment holding
Holdings Limited HK$20,000 & REER
20,0007 7T
Swire Coca-Cola RMB49,800,000 the PRC 4.1 41 Beverages processing
Beverages Wenzhou Limited AR #49,800,0007T H BN
SRR ST A TSR R IR A A
Hangzhou BC Warehousing and RMB3,300,000 the PRC 6.5 6.5 Provision of warehousing
Transportation Co., Ltd. AFE#3,300,0007T s and transportation services

MM R RERRAT
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43.

44,

PARTICULARS OF ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

In the opinion of the directors, the Group is able to exercise significant
influence over the above companies as the boards of directors

of these companies comprise representatives of the Group, who
participate in the policy-making processes. Accordingly, they are
accounted for as associates of the Group.

All of the above associates are indirectly held by the Company.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The financial assets of the Group are classified as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables and available-
for-sale investments.

The carrying amount of financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss of the Group with an aggregate amount of HK$95,871,000
(2007: HK$88,895,000) representing biological assets, and listed
investments, has been disclosed on the consolidated balance sheet
and relevant notes to the financial statements.

The carrying amount of financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss of the Company amounts to HK$7,204,000 (2007:
HK$14,301,000) representing the listed investments, has been
disclosed on the Company’s balance sheet and relevant note to the
financial statements.

The carrying amount of loans and receivables of the Group with an
aggregate amount of HK$2,670,827,000 (2007: HK$2,691,629,000)
including due from associates, accounts and bills receivable, an
aggregate amount of HK$226,586,000 (2007: HK$260,989,000)
included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables, amounts
due from fellow subsidiaries, amount due from the ultimate holding
company, amount due from the immediate holding company, pledged
deposits, and cash and cash equivalents, has been disclosed on

the consolidated balance sheet and relevant notes to the financial
statements.

The carrying amount of loans and receivables of the Company with an
aggregate amount of HK$4,452,903,000 (2007: HK$3,493,312,000)
including, amounts due from subsidiaries, loans to subsidiaries,
amount due from a fellow subsidiary, amount due from the immediate
holding company and cash and cash equivalents, has been disclosed
on the Company’s balance sheet and relevant notes to the financial
statements.

43.

44,

Hﬁ?%/ pa=2-1¢=)

EE2RE AAZESRARIZESSHRELRE
EZRE  2HEBERHTEGERE  AEBKM
BESME I ARIITFEARE At - HE
WEIEALE 2B E AT -

P& LS AR AR RIFEERA -

BERE D 2 EMTA
AREZEREEHBARAFEIIAR

w2 EREE - BRI BUER - ARATH
HERE -
AEERRFEIABRZEREELZ

bR E B A& £ 95,871,000 7 7T ( 2007 F -
88,895,000/ L) AEMEE R ETIRE -

RirBEEBBR R HRE 28T
W?;‘ng °

ARREAFEIARS  SBEEZ KM
1B /3#17,204,000/8 7T.(2007 4 : 14,301,000
BL)RLTRE  ERARRZEERR
KBTS Z AR XK o

RNEEE® S8 A £ 2670,827,000 7 7T
(2007 4 : 2,691,629,000/8 7T ) 2 & 7% F fig
WFIE IR R S A FIFRIE - AR
JEURERIE - AR A $£226,586,0007%8 /1. (2007
4 : 260,989,000/ 7C) FIAFEN FRIA ~ Ed
R EA U TRIE - EURF XK B A RIFRIEA
BURELIERARIIE - B ERER &/&
FIE AT URBESEREEEZS
B ERREEEEBERRMBHRE 2186
MaE AR -

AR BRTHE $ 88 A K 4,452,908,000 8 T
(2007 FF : 3,493,312,000/8 7T ) 2 B R fE
WRIE - BIERERINE AR FIE - RFTE

B BRRIRMBARLZFE - Y
BEEEBRARFIE  WRRERREEFE -
ERARFRZEERBRRRMBHRE 2 AR
BN -
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44,

49.

204

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 44,

(CONTINUED)

The carrying amount of available-for-sale investments of the

Group amounts to HK$210,454,000 (2007: HK$207,489,000)
representing certain of unlisted investments, has been disclosed on
the consolidated balance sheet and relevant note to the financial
statements.

The financial liabilities of the Group are classified as financial liabilities
at amortised cost.

The carrying amount of financial liabilities at amortised cost of the
Group with an aggregate amount of HK$3,221,298,000 (2007:
HK$2,633,493,000) including, accounts and bills payable, an
aggregate amount of HK$1,124,782,000 (2007: HK$690,299,000)
included in other payables and accruals, interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings, amounts due to fellow subsidiaries, amount due to
the ultimate holding company, amounts due to related companies,
amounts due to minority shareholders of subsidiaries, and amounts
due to associates, has been disclosed on the consolidated balance
sheet and relevant notes to the financial statements.

The carrying amount of financial liabilities at amortised cost of the
Company with an aggregate amount of HK$538,624,000 (2007:
HK$507,699,000) including other payables and accruals and amounts
due to subsidiaries, has been disclosed on the Company’s balance
sheet and relevant notes to the financial statements.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 45.

AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than derivatives,
comprise interest-bearing bank loans and other loans, and cash
and bank balances and time deposits. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations.
The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
accounts receivable and accounts payable, which arise directly from
its operations.

The Group enters into derivative transactions, including principally
future contracts of soybean and soybean meal. The purpose of
entering into future contracts of soybean meal is to manage the
market price risk arising from the Group’s edible oil, soybean meal
and related products operation. The accounting policies in relation to
derivatives are set out in note 3.3 to the financial statements.

China Foods Limited Annual Report 2008

RERE Dz eMITAE)

AEEAHLERAEZEESERHK
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45, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on minimising
potential adverse effects of these risks, with material impact, on

the Group’s financial performance. The board of directors reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates
relates primarily to the Group’s long term interest-bearing bank loans
and other borrowings with a floating interest rate. The effective interest
rates and terms of repayment of the interest-bearing bank loans and
other borrowings of the Group are disclosed in note 30. The Group
has not used any derivative to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on
floating rate borrowings) and the Group’s equity.

45.

BB REREREBZRRIRBE
(%)
AAEEZeMTAMELE 2 E2RR AT
LRk - INERRR - EERRIRREE SR
@ REERERRERFIETREER
IEERR (HAEEZHBRBBREK
FEIZBETNTE BEFEGRNAUFRE
EEZFRR B - atmT e

FIERPE
REEAZOTSHEES 2 AR EEMHE
FIREE 2 R BRITERRGEHZEF
R EMER - REBZ A BRTERNE
B R 2 T R R & SR A M RE 30 3%
B o AR EI R R EAIOTAEE AR A
PRS2 FIR @ o

TRETEMRE R ZRRGRSTE
BERATAEBBRENSMNGBEBYREREZ
FEI)RAEEEREN R GEE S
ZERIZE -

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) Increase/
basis in profit (decrease)
points before tax in equity
BELH RATRT |
(FHB) 18/ (&) (i)
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT
2008 20084
+100 (1,161) (951)
-100 1,161 951
2007 20074
+100 (6,438) (5,575)
-100 6,438 5,575
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49.

206

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 45. HFEREE B FERBUR
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) (%)
Foreign currency risk S s BB
The Group mainly operates in the PRC with most of the Group’s REBFZERNPREEE  MASE BRI
monetary assets, liabilities and transactions principally denominated NEBEE ABERRHAUETEUBTREA
in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. The Group has not used any REEFHE - REEWEN B ERITEE DK
derivative to hedge its exposure to foreign currency risk. P E PR 2 SNE R o
The following table indicates the approximate change in the Group’s TRIRAE B 2 BB R ) R 2 B FE &
profit before tax and equity in response to reasonably possible Az B2 (AEER LR EE AEER
changes in the foreign exchange rates to which the Group has BRER) 2 A EYE -
significant exposure at the balance sheet date.
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) Increase/
HK$/US$ in profit (decrease)
rate before tax in equity*
BT ETES FRRRET E#amm/
E#(FR) 8B/ (RD) (D )*
% HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
2008 20085
If Renminbi weakens against Hong Kong dollar EAREEBTERTR® 5 - (125,919)
If Renminbi strengthens against Hong Kong dollar EAREEBTER 5) - 125,919
If Renminbi weakens against United States dollar AAREHETERT® 5 (1,333) (1,093)
If Renminbi strengthens against United States dollar & AR X ETER |45 5) 1,333 1,093
2007 20075
If Renminbi weakens against Hong Kong dollar EARBHBTEERT B 5 - (230,595)
If Renminbi strengthens against Hong Kong dollar EANRESBTER H5 5) - 230,595
If Renminbi weakens against United States dollar EANRE Y ETERT &% 5 (20,351) (17,298)
If Renminbi strengthens against United States dollar & AR N ETER |45 5) 20,351 17,298
* Excluding retained earnings * TRIERB A%

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table represent an
aggregation of the effects on each of the Group entities’ profit before
tax and equity measured in the respective functional currencies,
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rate ruling at the

balance sheet date for presentation purpose.
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42.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk. The carrying
amount of the accounts receivable represents the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial assets. The Group has
policies in place to ensure that sales are made to customers with an
appropriate credit history.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents
and have available funding through bank and other borrowings to
meet its working capital requirements.

The contractual maturities of financial liabilities of the Group including
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, amounts due to fellow
subsidiaries, amount due to the ultimate holding company, amount
due to the immediate holding company, amounts due to related
companies, amounts due to minority shareholders of subsidiaries,
and amounts due to associates, have been disclosed in notes 22, 30
and 41, to the financial statements. For accounts and bills payable,
they are generally on credit terms of one to three months after the
invoice date or the date of the six months after the bills were issued.
For the financial liabilities amounted to HK$1,124,782,000 (2007:
HK$690,299,000) included in other payables and accruals disclosed
on the consolidated balance sheet, there are generally no specified
contractual maturities for these liabilities, and they are paid on a
regular basis or upon counterparty’s formal notification.

Market price risk

The raw materials costs and product selling prices of the Group’s
operation of edible oil, soybean meal and related products are
substantially correlated to the prices of future commodities markets.
Market price risk arises from price fluctuations of raw materials costs
and product selling prices during the delivery, production and storage
processes. To minimise the Group’s market price risk exposure, the
Group enters into future contracts of soybean and soybean meal.

45.

BB REREREBZRRIRBE
(#&)

S5 B3

AEEZ EERARLTED - RRER2E
FENAEEENAMLLREE L BALE
AR - ARESHERE - BROASE
EEBEE I BFER -

i ENR & WP
AEBZBEDRFHRAZRERBAEEE
Y WEBRITREMERTEBE S IAE
NHEEESFE -

AEEZSRBEZANEHABETER
TREMEER BEYRRMBARKE - &
MNREERARRIEA - BRERERARRK
18 - ENBIEARIIE - ENWEBARE
REZHIE - UREMNBEARZHE B
R REMNT22 - 0K AEE - =R
BRERMENRE  —REEHAHEER
HE—Z={0 A mZEHEE B BB
A - JAHMENKIERETERAH
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45, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and

maximise shareholder value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to
it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during
the years ended 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2007.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by the total capital plus net debt. Net debt includes interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings less cash and cash equivalents,
and pledged deposits. Capital represents total equity. The gearing
ratios as at the balance sheet dates were as follows:

45.

B EREREBRRBE
(%)

REER
AEBERARNHEE R ELREAEEL
SEEE N R BROARLE  UZ
15 L2 R SRR SR -

AEESHBLCERRSCEEHERNERE
WEHEEL AR o Bl FHEE AR
AEBLSHBRIAF FRENREKE - iR
BARTIRRHEITHRG - #Z2008512
A31H8 K20074E12 A31HILFER - B
BiZ - BR BRI ST

AEERAENRBELREREERER
BEARRBLERZFABRABERINFR
BEZANE - FREBETBRITRAM

B RASRASEEARERFR - &
$%E‘%@TEA c RBEHRZEARAREED
T

Group XxEE

2008 2007

2008%F 20074

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings STERITER R E A G R 247,955 391,752
Less: Cash and cash equivalents W RERIESSED (1,546,684) (1,396,563)
Pledged deposits T (3,002) (3,477)
Net assets BEFE (1,301,731) (1,008,288)
Total capital BB 6,324,974 5,633,501
Capital and net debt e kaEFE 5,023,243 4,625,213
Gearing ratio BEAREELE N/A FiEH N/A i
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40.

47,

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS 46.

The transaction mentioned in note 35(iii) above was completed on
9 January 2009. Furthermore, to determine the fair value of assets
acquired at the date of completion, the Group has appointed an
external valuer to carry a valuation of CCClI Beijing at the date of
completion. As at the date of this report, the valuation has not yet
completed. Therefore, it is not practicable to disclose further details
about this transaction.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47.

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors on 9 April 2009.

HERRER
XRS5 ATt 2 32 5 B A 200941 A9H
FEAK o bSO - ANEEBEFTN ST B BEA
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Fve Year Financial Summary

HFI R

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and minority interests
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published
audited consolidated financial statements and restated and reclassified as

appropriate, is set out below:

AEBBETRPRFEZRENEE - AEEDH

fRRERBEREEEE T

B2 RBEREAMBR

& WEBIIMNEHDRRBEBRBRME) - BEAN
BEPL X

Year ended 31 December

HEE12A31ALER
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
20085 20075 20065 2005F 2004
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FT#ET THET TAT FHAT FAT
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(&=51) (&57)) (&57)
CONTINUING OPERATIONS S E 5
TURNOVER -y 1] 14,240,283 9,743,011 6,497,453 5,210,772 2,630,152
PROFIT FROM OPERATING EBERH
ACTIVITIES 662,716 917,353 494,437 462,177 219,827
Finance costs MERA (31,382) (33,078) (45,426) (33,758) (14,974)
Share of profits of associates i NE il 124,996 49,167 49,624 55,429 -
PROFIT BEFORE TAX RETEF 756,330 933,442 498,635 483,848 204,853
Tax RE (136,251) (135,792) (105,877) (81,967) (49,525)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM BIRBEREZ
CONTINUING OPERATIONS FEERT 620,079 797,650 392,758 401,881 155,328
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS ERIEEERE
Profit for the year from [REIIR<EET S
discontinued operations FRZ i F - 239,769 831,909 283,355 158,935
620,079 1,037,419 1,224,667 685,236 314,263
Attributable to: 5 S IR
Equiity holders of the Company RARRAFE A 483,427 791,686 990,064 562,842 260,103
Minority interests DERRER 136,652 245,733 234,603 122,394 54,160
620,079 1,037,419 1,224,667 685,236 314,263
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND BE  AfRHRIE
MINORITY INTERESTS BRES
TOTAL ASSETS HEE 10,447,863 8,992,460 21,798,297 15,618,988 13,185,083
TOTAL LIABILITIES #am (4,122,889)  (3358959)  (10,236,168)  (8,144,552)  (6,393,372)
MINORITY INTERESTS PHREES (1,232,674)  (1,074850)  (1,807,721)  (1,644,509)  (1,551,688)
5,092,300 4,558,651 9,754,408 5,829,927 5,240,023
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Non-executive Directors
Mr. Ma Jianping
Ms. Wu Wenting

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Stephen Edward Clark

Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred

Mr. Yuen Tin Fan, Francis

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Mr. Stephen Edward Clark
(Committee Chairman)
Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred
Mr. Yuen Tin Fan, Francis

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Yuen Tin Fan, Francis (Committee Chairman)
Mr. Stephen Edward Clark
Mr. Qu Zhe

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Liu Kit Yee, Linda

SOLICITORS

Conyers, Dill & Pearman

AUDITORS

Emnst & Young

B

HITES
BERBEE(EE)
e et )
BERSEE

SRR S
BERLL

FHITES
BRI SEE
KL

BYFIITES
rizfEfit
FEPELE
RRLELE

BZZEg
Wi
(ZERLR)
FRiss
ERAEA

=
ERAKLE(ZARLRE)
W

RS A

NEWE
ERELL

(L]

Conyers, Dill & Pearman

T2 BB
R EHEVE

wEARERAE cosrras 211



Corporate Information (continued)
NRERHE)

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of Communications Company Limited

Hang Seng Bank Limited

The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd., Hong Kong Branch
BNP Paribas Hong Kong Branch

ING Bank NV., Hong Kong Branch

REGISTERED OFFICE
Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda

HEAD OFFICE
33/F

Top Glory Tower

262 Gloucester Road
Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE IN HONG KONG

Tricor Progressive Limited

26/F Tesbury Tower

28 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong
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